

Akademiska Hus AB (publ)

(incorporated as a limited company in the Kingdom of Sweden (with registered no. 556459-9156))

€4,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") described in this Prospectus, Akademiska Hus AB (publ) (the "Issuer" or

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") described in this Prospectus, Akademiska Hus AB (publ) (the "Issuer" or "Akademiska Hus"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue debt securities (the "Notes"). The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed €4,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies). This Prospectus supersedes any previous Prospectus or supplements thereto. Any Notes issued under the Programme within 12 months of the date of this Prospectus are issued subject to the provisions therein. This Prospectus does not affect any Notes issued prior to the date hereof.

This Prospectus has been approved as a base prospectus by the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA"), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA") (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"). The FCA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the UK Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the FCA should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer that is the subject of this Prospectus or of the quality of the Notes that is the subject of the Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

Application has been made to the FCA for Notes issued under the Programme for the period of 12 months from the date of this Prospectus to be admitted to the official list of the FCA (the "Official List") and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's main market (the "Market"). References in this Prospectus to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trading on the Market and have been admitted to the Official List. The Market is a United Kingdom ("UK") regulated market for the purposes of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 on markets in financial instruments as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA ("UK MiFIR").

This Prospectus (as supplemented at the relevant time, as applicable) is valid for a period of 12 months from its date. The obligation to supplement this Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Prospectus is no longer valid

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") of Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the "Final Terms") which will be delivered to the FCA and the London Stock Exchange. Copies of Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on the London Stock Exchange will also be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange through a regulatory information service.

Each Series (as defined in "Overview of the Programme") of Notes in bearer form will initially be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a "Temporary Global Note") or a permanent global note in bearer form (each a "Permanent Global Note"). Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a "Certificate"), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Global Notes may (i) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, be deposited on the issue date with a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"); and (ii) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in classic global note ("CGN") form as specified in the applicable Final Terms be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Tranches of Notes may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The Issuer's senior long term debt obligations have been rated AA] by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited ("S&P"). S&P is established in the European Economic Area (the "EEA") and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the "CRA Regulation"). As such, S&P is included in the list of credit ratings agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation. S&P is not established in the UK and has not applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK CRA Regulation"). The ratings issued by S&P have been endorsed by S&P Global Ratings UK Limited in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation and have not been withdrawn. S&P Global Ratings UK Limited is established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. The rating of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Please also refer to "Credit ratings may not reflect all risks" in the "Risk Factors" section of this Prospectus.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (see "Subscription and Sale").

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" in this Prospectus. This Prospectus does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the Notes.

Amounts payable on Floating Rate Notes will be calculated by reference to one of the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate ("EURIBOR"), the Stockholm inter-bank offered rate ("STIBOR") or the Norwegian inter-bank offered rate ("NIBOR") as specified in the relevant Final Terms. As at the date of this Prospectus, the administrator of EURIBOR is included in the FCA's register of administrators under Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation"); the administrators of NIBOR and STIBOR are not included in the FCA's register of administrators. As far as the Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the UK Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that the administrators of NIBOR and STIBOR are not currently required to obtain recognition or endorsement or to benefit from an equivalence decision under the UK Benchmarks Regulation.

Arranger SEB Dealers

Citigroup Deutsche Bank NatWest Markets Nordea

Danske Bank Handelsbanken Nomura SEB

Swedbank

23 May 2024

This Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the UK Prospectus Regulation. When used in this Prospectus, "**UK Prospectus Regulation**" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer and the Notes which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer and the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus and the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and the Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect the import of such information.

Certain exchange rate information on page 6 has been extracted from Bloomberg. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by Bloomberg, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated in it by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below). This Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that those documents are incorporated and form part of this Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), the information on the websites to which this Prospectus refers does not form part of this Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the FCA.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in "Overview of the Programme"). Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. This document is not an offer of securities for sale in the United States. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws and may not be offered or sold in the United States or to or for the account or benefit of US persons (as such terms are defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) unless registered under the Securities Act or offered pursuant to an exemption from such registration. The Notes include Notes in bearer form that are subject to US tax law requirements. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Prospectus, see "Subscription and Sale".

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accept any responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or a Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes. The Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement. Neither this Prospectus nor any document incorporated by reference nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by

any of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Prospectus or any other financial statements or any document incorporated by reference should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

IMPORTANT – EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT - UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of sales to UK Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

EU MiFID II product governance / target market – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "EU MiFID II product governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to EU MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the EU MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market – The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR product governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the

"UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

- (a) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement;
- (b) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (c) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (d) understands thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any financial markets; and
- (e) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Notes issued as Green Bonds: None of the Arranger, Dealers, the Trustee nor any of their respective affiliates accepts any responsibility for any environmental or sustainability assessment of any Notes issued as Green Bonds or makes any representation or warranty or gives assurance as to whether such Notes will meet any investor expectations or requirements regarding such green" or similar labels (including in relation to Regulation (EU) 2020/852 on the establishment" of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the "EU Taxonomy Regulation") and any related technical screening criteria, Regulation (EU) 2023/2631 on European Green Bonds and optional disclosures for bonds marketed as environmentally sustainable and for sustainabilitylinked bonds (the "EU Green Bond Regulation"), and any implementing legislation and guidelines, or any similar legislation in the UK) or any requirements of such labels as they may evolve from time to time. None of the Arranger, Dealers, the Trustee nor any of their respective affiliates have undertaken, nor are they responsible for, any assessment of the Eligible Green Projects and Assets (as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" section of this Prospectus), any verification of whether the Eligible Green Projects and Assets meet any eligibility criteria set out in the Framework (as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" section of this Prospectus) nor are they responsible for the use of proceeds (or amounts equal thereto) for any Notes issued as Green Bonds, nor the impact or monitoring of such use of proceeds or the allocation of the proceeds to particular Eligible Green Projects and Assets. The Framework, the Second Party Opinion (as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" section of this Prospectus) and any public reporting by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the application of proceeds will be available on the Issuer's website at www.akademiskahus.se/en/about-us/financial-information/financing/green-financing/ but, for the avoidance of doubt, will not be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. None

of the Arranger, Dealers, the Trustee nor any of their respective affiliates make any representation as to the suitability or content of such materials.

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to:

- "US\$" and "US dollars" are to United States dollars;
- references to "SEK" are to Swedish Kronor: and
- references to "euro" and "€" are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

In this Prospectus, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to a law or a provision of a law is a reference to that law or provision as extended, amended or re-enacted.

Table of Contents

	Page
Documents Incorporated by Reference	8
Supplemental Prospectus	
Overview of the Programme	
Risk Factors	16
Terms and Conditions of the Notes	26
Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes While in Global Form	53
Use of Proceeds	57
Akademiska Hus	58
Taxation	65
Subscription and Sale	66
Form of Final Terms	70
General Information	80

In connection with the issue of any Tranche, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilisation manager(s) (the "Stabilisation Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment shall be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents, all of which have been filed with the FCA:

- a) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 together with the audit report thereon, as set out on pages 52
 91 of the Issuer's 2023 Annual Report, available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/economic-reports/annual-report-2023-eng.pdf;
- b) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 together with the audit report thereon, as set out on pages 61

 102
 of the Issuer's 2022 Annual Report, available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/economic-reports/annual-report-2022-eng.pdf;
- c) the Issuer's Interim Report for January March 2024 which contains its unaudited consolidated interim financial statements as at and for the three-month period ended 31 March 2024, available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/economic_reports/interim-report-q1-2024.pdf;
- d) pages 127 129 of the Issuer's 2023 Annual Report in relation to Alternative Performance Measures, available at https://www.akademiskahus.se/globalassets/dokument/ekonomi/ekonomiska-rapporter/akademiska-hus-annual-report-2023-eng.pdf; and
- e) the Terms and Conditions of the Notes contained in the following previous prospectuses prepared by the Issuer in connection with the programme:
 - i) Prospectus dated 25 May 2023, pages 28 55 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2023.pdf#page=28;
 - ii) Prospectus dated 25 May 2022, pages 27 54 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn-base-prospectus-2022.pdf#page=27;
 - iii) Prospectus dated 27 May 2021, pages 27 53 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2021.pdf;
 - iv) Prospectus dated 28 May 2020, pages 26 52 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2020.pdf#page=26;
 - v) Prospectus dated 29 May 2019, pages 24 50 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2019.pdf#page=24;
 - vi) Prospectus dated 30 May 2018, pages 20 42 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2018.pdf#page=20;
 - vii) Prospectus dated 1 June 2017, pages 20 43 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2017.pdf#page=20;
 - viii) Prospectus dated 31 May 2016, pages 18 41 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2016.pdf#page=18;
 - ix) Prospectus dated 28 May 2015, pages 19 42 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2015.pdf#page=19;
 - x) Prospectus dated 28 May 2014, pages 19 42 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2014.pdf#page=19;
 - xi) Prospectus dated 28 May 2012, pages 19 38 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2012.pdf#page=19;
 - xii) Prospectus dated 27 May 2011, pages 20 41 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2011.pdf#page=20; and
 - xiii) Prospectus dated 28 May 2010, pages 20 42 (inclusive) available at https://files.akademiskahus.se/emtn/emtn base prospectus 2010.pdf#page=20.

Such documents shall be incorporated in, and form part of this Prospectus, save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified

modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for an investor or are otherwise covered elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus shall not form a part of this Prospectus.

Supplemental Prospectus

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a supplemental prospectus pursuant to Article 23(1) of the UK Prospectus Regulation, the Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate amendment or supplement to this Prospectus or a further Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Market, shall constitute a supplemental prospectus as required by the FCA and Article 23(1) of the UK Prospectus Regulation.

The Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme there is a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information contained in this Prospectus which may affect the assessment of any Notes, the inclusion or removal which in this Prospectus is necessary for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer the rights attaching to the Notes and the reasons for the issuance and its impact on the Issuer, the Issuer shall prepare an amendment or supplement to this Prospectus or publish a replacement Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Overview of the Programme

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Prospectus.

Issuer Akademiska Hus AB (publ)
Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) 213800573TEIBOSTZX92

Arranger Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

Dealers Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Danske Bank A/S

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

NatWest Markets N.V.

Nomura Financial Products Europe GmbH

Nordea Bank Abp

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ)

Swedbank AB (publ)

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any Dealer under the Programme or appoint additional Dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this Prospectus to "Permanent Dealers" are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as Dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and to "Dealers" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a Dealer in respect of one or more Tranches.

Trustee Company Limited

Issuing and Paying Agent and Transfer

Agent

Registrar

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Initial Programme Amount

Up to €4,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date of issue) aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any one

time.

Method of Issue

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series"), having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche"), on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be completed, where necessary, with the relevant terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and principal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other

Issue Price

Form of Notes

Clearing Systems

Initial Delivery of Notes

Tranches of the same Series) will be completed in the final terms document to this Prospectus (the "Final Terms").

Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount or premium to their principal amount

The Notes may be issued in bearer form only ("Bearer Notes"), in bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes ("Exchangeable Bearer Notes"), or in registered form only ("Registered Notes"). Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes will be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note if (i) definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such Notes have an initial maturity of more than 12 months and are being issued in compliance with the D Rules (as defined "Overview of the Programme – Selling Restrictions"), otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a Permanent Global Note. Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Certificates Registered Notes representing registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems are referred to as "Global Certificates".

The relevant Final Terms will specify whether Notes are issued as Bearer Notes, Exchangeable Bearer Notes or Registered Notes.

Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and, in relation to any Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the relevant Dealer.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is an NGN or the Global Certificate is held under the new safekeeping structure ("NSS"), the Global Note or the Global Certificate, as applicable, will be delivered to a Safekeeper Euroclear Common for Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, the Global Note representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes or the Global Certificate representing Registered Notes may be deposited with a Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Global Certificates may also be deposited with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Trustee and the Currencies

Maturities

Denomination

Fixed Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes

Benchmark Replacement

relevant Dealer. Registered Notes that are to be credited to one or more clearing systems on issue will be registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee for such clearing systems.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealers.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, the Notes will have a minimum maturity of one month.

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified thereon, save that (i) in the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the UK or offered to the public in the UK in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the UK Prospectus Regulation, the minimum denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes) unless it is to be admitted to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified investors (as defined in the UK Prospectus Regulation) have access; and (ii) unless otherwise permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes denominated in Sterling) which must be redeemed before the first anniversary of their date of issue and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the UK or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 will have a denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified hereon.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate set separately for each Series by reference to EURIBOR, STIBOR or NIBOR as adjusted for any applicable Margin. Interest periods will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If a Benchmark Event has occurred, such that any rate of interest (or any component part thereof) cannot be determined by reference to the original benchmark specified in the relevant Final Terms, then such rate of interest may be substituted (subject to certain conditions) with a successor or alternative rate (with consequent amendment to the terms of such Series of Notes and the application of an adjustment spread (which could be positive or negative or zero)) as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Benchmark Replacement".

Zero Coupon Notes

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

CPI Linked Interest Notes

Payments of interest in respect of CPI Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to the Swedish consumer price index ("CPI") published by Statistiska centralbyrån (Statistics Sweden) ("SCB") on its website at http://www.scb.se/, or on such replacement website or page on which such information is published.

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Notes and CPI Linked Interest Notes

Floating Rate Notes and CPI Linked Interest Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes and CPI Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Interest Periods and Rates of Interest

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable rate of interest or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum rate of interest, a minimum rate of interest, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Optional Redemption

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders, and if so the terms applicable to such redemption.

Status of Notes

The Notes will constitute unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Status".

Negative Pledge

The Notes will contain a Negative Pledge as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge".

Cross Default

The Notes will contain a cross default provision as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of Default".

Withholding Tax

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding taxes of Sweden, subject to certain specified exceptions, all as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Taxation".

Governing Law

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will

Listing

Ratings

Selling Restrictions

be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

Application has been made to list the Notes under the Programme on the Official List and to admit them to trading on the Market or as otherwise specified hereon.

Tranches of Notes may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated such rating will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

United States, EEA (in respect of Notes having a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes)), UK, Belgium and such other restrictions as may be required in connection with a particular issue of Notes. See "Subscription and Sale".

Offers of Notes under the Programme will comply with Category 2 restrictions for purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with US Treasury Regulations s1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor United States Treasury regulation section, including without limitation, successor regulations issued in accordance with Internal Revenue Service Notice 2012-20 or otherwise in connection with the United States Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010) (the "D Rules"), unless (i) the relevant Final Terms states that Notes are issued in compliance with US Treasury Regulations 5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor United States Treasury regulation section, including without limitation, successor regulations issued in accordance with Internal Revenue Service Notice 2012-20 or otherwise in connection with the United States Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010) (the "C Rules"), or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("TEFRA"), which circumstances will be referred to in the relevant Final Terms as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

Risk Factors

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur. The Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring, as the Issuer may not be aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become material due to the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's control.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. The most significant risk factor under each category is presented first. The other risk factors are not presented in order of significance or probability of the risk being materialised. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents deemed to be incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme

Strategic risks

Vacancy risks and risks related to rental income

Akademiska Hus' income derives primarily from rental income from its properties. Investments in specifically adapted premises require long leases to justify needed investments. The level of vacancies may depend on the Issuer's ability to achieve efficient and appropriate premises for its customers. An increased sustainability focus among customers and changes in people's behaviour as a consequence of the continued strong digitalisation trend, may result in reduced demand for premises from the centres of education or a change in demand towards different types of premises. The Issuer's ability to continue providing efficient and appropriate premises will depend on its ability to foresee and adapt to future changes and market needs. There is also a risk that it will not be possible to find new tenants in case of increased vacancies, or that new tenants will not pay the same rents as previous tenants, which may result in higher vacancy levels or lower rental income. Higher vacancy levels or lower rental income have a direct effect on the Issuer's earnings and may have a material adverse effect on the Noteholders' investment.

Risks related to changes in property values

The Issuer reports the fair value of its properties in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Changes in value are caused by external factors as well as specific changes in the properties. As a consequence, the reported fair value may vary considerably. External factors include, amongst others, the market rent trend, the direct yield requirement and cost of capital. Specific changes in the properties include changes in rent levels, vacancies and investments. Changes in fair value of the Issuer's properties are usually not realised and therefore seldom affect cash flow. Changes in fair value will, however, affect the Issuer's income statement. Changes in fair value of the properties may have a major impact on the Issuer's financial position, which in turn could have an adverse effect on the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Climate risks

Climate changes can have negative consequences for the Issuer's properties and campus areas. The Issuer may have to make costly investments and/or restructurings in order to adapt to a changed environment, which could have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business and earnings, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Political risks and risks related to macroeconomic factors

Akademiska Hus is strategically exposed in the long run to developments in the property market. In turn, this is affected by macroeconomic factors such as general economic trends, economic growth, the labour market, interest rate levels and inflation. Current geopolitical tensions, conflicts

and sanctions have particularly increased the macroeconomic risks faced by the Issuer. Additionally, economies across Europe and globally are currently experiencing inflationary pressures which has entailed a higher interest rate environment. Higher interest rates, accompanied by the general economic downturn, have had, and could continue to have, a negative impact on the property market by adversely affecting the market's yield requirements and the market value of the Issuer's properties, among other things. Whilst inflationary pressures are expected to decline during 2024, any increase in these risks could have a materially adverse effect on the Issuer's business, earnings and financial position.

The Issuer is also affected by the Swedish government's policies in general and education policy in particular. Major investments in modern research and education environments have formed the Group's campuses. Further, Akademiska Hus is exposed to risks related to changes in its mission decided by the Swedish Parliament. Acquisitions and sales of properties take place to counteract and deal with the strategic risk in the Issuer's property portfolio. Changes in Akademiska Hus' mission, the Swedish government's policies and/or macroeconomic factors could have a material impact on the Issuer's business, earnings and financial position, which could adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Risks related to competence development for personnel

Akademiska Hus' business is dependent on experienced employees possessing relevant skills. The strong digitalisation trend and development of new technologies, as well as demands from customers, require continuous development of competencies and ways of working, among senior executives as well as the Issuer's employees in general. There may be a risk that, over time, the Issuer is unable to achieve the required competencies across its employees and retain or recruit qualified personnel to the desired extent. Lack of required competence, if it is substantial, may have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Operating and maintenance cost risk

Regular maintenance is crucial to ensure a high level of operational reliability in the Issuer's property portfolio. Operating and maintenance costs are affected by price trends for goods and services. Some of these costs are variable and can be reduced or postponed to meet a decline in profit or cost of vacant space. If regular maintenance is not handled in an appropriate way, this could lead to higher maintenance costs in the long run, the need for additional investments and/or property holdings that are not well maintained. This could have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business, both financially and reputationally, which could also affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

The Issuer is exposed to future electricity price development, including currency effects. Hedging of future electricity prices aim at achieving a low electricity cost over time and is regulated in the guidelines for purchasing electricity. There is, however, a risk that an increase in electricity prices will increase the Issuer's operating costs, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Electricity and other commodity prices have declined following the sharp increase in 2022, but the current geopolitical situation, in particular, the expansion of sanctions, worsened trade relations, political tensions and acts of war, has increased the uncertainty of future price developments, in addition to uncertainty in the supply of a variety of commodities and other goods. The risk of electricity shortages has also increased and could affect Akademiska Hus' ability to provide its customers with electricity, which in turn could incur costs to manage. Increased costs for operations and maintenance, whether due to a dearth of supply, general increase in costs or otherwise, will increase the Issuer's operating cost, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Operating risks

Risks related to business disruptions, internal deficiencies and information or cyber security

Operational activities may include the risk of incurring losses due to, among other things, internal routines or control, IT systems, administration, unclear allocation of responsibility and access to reliable valuation and risk models. This includes risks related to downtime in critical systems used

either by the Issuer or its tenants. If the Issuer's routines or systems are inadequate, there is a risk of incorrect decisions being made or the Issuer being unable to properly manage its operations. Digitalisation trends also entail increased risks related to information or cyber security. Failure to manage these risks properly may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financially as well as operationally and reputationally, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Legal risks and risks related to regulatory compliance and unethical behaviour

The Issuer must comply with various laws and regulations. Changes in legislation or regulations could require the Issuer to modify its business or its financial reporting.

Unethical behaviour, internally or externally, is also included in operating risks. Unethical behaviour from an external party includes, among other things, substandard working conditions or negative environmental impact involving the Issuer's suppliers. Unethical behaviour from an internal party includes, among other things, bribes or exploitation of a supplier's dependency on Akademiska Hus for private gain. Failure to handle this risk adequately may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's business, both financially and reputationally, which in turn could adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Project risks

The construction, refurbishment, redevelopment and extension of properties constitutes a part of the Issuer's regular business operations. Projects are usually complex, not only from a technical perspective but also because they involve multiple parties and have long life cycles. There is a risk related to the physical design and implementation stage if there is lack of governance and monitoring. Mistakes made whilst managing projects may adversely affect the Issuer's earnings which in turn may affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Further, there is a risk of higher project costs due to price increases. Uncertainties related to the ability of suppliers to fulfil their contractual obligations in projects, and, to some extent still, the uncertainty in the supply of materials and other goods needed for the projects, may cause delays in the projects. Increased project costs, whether from price increases or from delays, may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's earnings, which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Climate and environmental risks

Property companies such as the Issuer affect the climate and environment through construction and on-going maintenance of properties and also through their energy use, including the energy used by customers within their operations. The Environmental Code (*Sw. Miljöbalken 1998:808*), as amended or replaced, places considerable responsibility on the property owner. If not handled in an appropriate way, this risk could have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business and earnings which in turn may adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Financial risks

Financing risk

The Issuer may not be able to obtain financing, or may obtain financing at higher than expected costs, when debt is to be raised or refinanced. This risk is higher during times of uncertainty in the financial markets such as, for example, during the current macroeconomic downturn and in light of geopolitical events. This could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's financial position, which could adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Interest rate risk

Changes in market interest rates may lead to the Issuer's net interest income and expense varying. This could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's earnings and financial position, which could adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Risks related to changes in the value of financial derivative instruments

Akademiska Hus uses interest rate and currency derivatives as important elements in managing interest rate and currency risks. All financing in foreign currencies is hedged to eliminate currency risks. Interest rate and currency derivatives are reported at fair value in the Issuer's balance sheet, and changes in value are reported in the income statement. The value of the financial derivatives

will vary due to changes in market interest rates and currency exchange rates, and such variation may have a material adverse impact on the Issuer's earnings and financial position. This could in turn adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Credit and counterparty risk

The Issuer's counterparties may not meet their obligations. A limit system for financial counterparty risk is based on the counterparties' credit rating, ownership and the term of the commitment. ISDA agreements and supplementary agreements, Credit Support Annexes (CSA), are always signed before derivative transactions are carried out, which reduces the counterparty risk significantly. However, failure of one or more counterparties to meet their obligations could have a material effect on the Issuer's financial position, which could adversely affect the value of the Noteholders' investment.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features:

Risks applicable to all Notes

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return.

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

If the Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. Where the Notes convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to changes in market interest rates.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities. Such volatility could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes.

The regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks"

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", (including EURIBOR, STIBOR and NIBOR) are the subject of national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or referencing such a benchmark.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") and the UK Benchmarks Regulation apply, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU and the UK, respectively. Among other things, they (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based or non-UK-based, as applicable, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU or UK (as applicable) supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based or non-UK-based, as applicable, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

The euro risk-free rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates. On 4 December 2023, the group issued its final statement, announcing completion of its mandate.

Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks (including EURIBOR, STIBOR or NIBOR): (i) discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes linked to or referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a benchmark.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that an Original Reference Rate and/or any screen page on which an Original Reference Rate may be published (or any other successor service), becomes unavailable, or a Benchmark Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions) otherwise occurs. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the Rate of Interest could be set by reference to a Successor Reference Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate (both as defined in the Terms and Conditions), with the application of an adjustment spread (which could be positive, negative or zero) and may include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to ensure the proper operation of the new benchmark, all as determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in consultation with an Independent Adviser) as more fully described in Condition 5(I). It is possible that the adoption of a Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (including with the application of an adjustment spread) may still result in any Notes linked to or referencing an Original Reference

Rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form.

Furthermore, in certain circumstances, the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of the Rate of Interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. Due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of Successor Reference Rates and Alternative Reference Rates, the involvement of an Independent Adviser and the potential for further regulatory developments there is a risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, or any of the international or national reforms in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes referencing a benchmark. Risks applicable to certain types of Notes

There are particular risks associated with an investment in CPI Linked Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal amount invested by it.

The Issuer may issue CPI Linked Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to the Swedish consumer price index. Potential investors should be aware that:

- (a) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- (b) they may receive no interest;
- (c) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time than expected;
- (d) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- (e) the index may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices; and
- (f) the timing of changes in the index may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the index, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of the relevant index should not be viewed as an indication of the future performance of such index during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any CPI Linked Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.

In respect of any Notes issued with a specific use of proceeds, such as "Green Bonds", there can be no assurance that such use of proceeds will be suitable for the investment criteria of an investor.

The applicable Final Terms relating to any specific Tranche of Notes may provide that it will be the Issuer's intention to apply an amount equal to the net proceeds from an offer of such Notes specifically for investment in Eligible Green Projects and Assets which meet the Eligibility Criteria as described in the Issuer's Green Bond Framework (each as defined in "Use of Proceeds"). The Issuer's Green Bond Framework is not, nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Prospectus. The Issuer's Green Bond Framework may be amended at any time without the consent of Noteholders and none of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger or the Dealers assumes any obligation or responsibility to release any update or revision to the Green Bond Framework and/or information to reflect events or circumstances after the date of publication of the Green Bond Framework.

No assurance is given by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Trustee, any Dealer or any other person that the use of such proceeds for investment in any Eligible Green Projects and Assets will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations (including, but not limited to, the EU Taxonomy Regulation and any related technical screening criteria, the EU Green Bond

Regulation, and any implementing legislation and guidelines, or any similar legislation in the UK) or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates (in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, the relevant Eligible Green Projects and Assets). Neither the Trustee, the Arranger nor any Dealer shall be responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the use of proceeds in respect of any such Notes. Prospective investors should consult with their legal and other advisers before making an investment in any such Notes and must determine for themselves the relevance of the information set out in this Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms for the purpose of any investment in such Notes together with any other investigation such investor deems necessary.

It should be noted that the definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, or market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a "green" or "sustainable" or an equivalently-labelled project or investment that may finance such project is evolving. No assurance can be given that a clear definition, consensus or label will develop over time or that, if it does, any Green Bonds will comply with such definition, market consensus or label.

In addition, no assurance can be given by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, any Dealer or any other person to investors that any Green Bonds will comply with any future standards or requirements regarding any "green", "social", "environmental", "sustainable" or other equivalentlylabelled performance objectives, including (but not limited to) the EU Taxonomy Regulation and any related technical screening criteria, the EU Green Bond Regulation, and any implementing legislation and guidelines, or any similar legislation in the UK, or any requirements of such labels as they may evolve from time to time, and, accordingly, the status of any Notes as being "green" (or equivalent) could be withdrawn at any time. Any Green Bonds issued under the Programme will not be compliant with the EU Green Bond Regulation and are only intended to comply with the requirements and processes in the Green Bond Framework. It is not clear if the establishment of the EU Green Bond Regulation label and the optional disclosures regime for bonds issued as "environmentally sustainable" under the EU Green Bond Regulation could have an impact on investor demand for, and pricing of, green use of proceeds bonds that do not comply with the requirements of the EU Green Bond Regulation label or the optional disclosures regime, such as the Green Bonds issued under this Programme. It could result in reduced liquidity or lower demand or could otherwise affect the market price of any Green Bonds issued under this Programme that do not comply with those standards proposed under the EU Green Bond Regulation.

Accordingly, no assurance or representation is or can be given by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, any Dealer or any other person to investors that any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Green Projects and Assets will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled performance objectives or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Green Projects and Assets.

No assurance or representation is given by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, any Dealer or any other person as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion, report or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may or may not be made available in connection with the issue of any Notes and in particular with any Eligible Green Projects and Assets to fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, any such opinion, report or certification is not, nor shall be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Prospectus. Any such opinion, report or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, any Dealer, or any other person to buy, sell or hold any such Notes. Any such opinion, report or certification is only current as of the date that opinion, report or certification was initially issued. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion, report or certification and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion, report or certification for the purpose of any investment in such Notes. Currently, the providers of such opinions, reports and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Investors in such Notes shall have no recourse against the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, the Dealers or the provider of any such opinion, report or certification for the contents of any such opinion, report or certification.

In the event that any such Notes are listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated "green", "environmental", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled segment of any stock exchange or securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance is given by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, any Dealer or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or quidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations (including, but not limited to, the EU Taxonomy Regulation and any related technical screening criteria, the EU Green Bond Regulation, and any implementing legislation and guidelines or any similar legislation in the UK) or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates. Furthermore, it should be noted that the criteria for any such listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities market to another. Nor is any representation or assurance given or made by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger, the Dealers or any other person that any such listing or admission to trading will be obtained in respect of any such Notes or, if obtained, that any such listing or admission to trading will be maintained during the life of the Notes.

Whilst it is the intention of the Issuer to apply the proceeds of any Notes so specified for Eligible Green Projects and Assets in, or substantially in, the manner described in the applicable Final Terms, there can be no assurance that the relevant project(s) or use(s) the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Green Projects and Assets will be capable of being implemented in or substantially in such manner and/or in accordance with any timing schedule and that accordingly such proceeds will be totally disbursed for investment in the specified Eligible Green Projects and Assets. Nor can there be any assurance that such Eligible Green Projects and Assets will be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results or outcome (whether or not related to the environment) as originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer. Any such event or failure by the Issuer will not constitute an Event of Default under the Notes or otherwise result in the Notes being redeemed prior to their maturity date.

Any such event or failure to apply the proceeds of any issue of Notes for any Eligible Green Projects and Assets as mentioned in the previous paragraph and/or withdrawal of any such opinion, report or certification or any such opinion, report or certification attesting that the Issuer is not complying in whole or in part with any matters for which such opinion, report or certification is opining, reporting or certifying on and/or any such Notes no longer being listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange or securities market as mentioned above may have a material adverse effect on the value of such Notes and also potentially the value of any other Notes which are intended to finance Eligible Green Projects and Assets and/or result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose.

There is no direct contractual link between any Green Bonds and any green targets of the Issuer. Therefore, payments of interest, principal or other amounts payable in respect of any Notes and rights to accelerate under the Notes will not be impacted by the performance of Eligible Green Projects and Assets funded out of the proceeds of issue (or amounts equal thereto) of the Notes or by any other green, social or sustainable assets of the Issuer.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally:

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on the Trustee which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual interests of particular Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings (including by way of conference call or by use of videoconference platform) of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or

proposed breach of, any of the provisions of Notes or (ii) determine without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event of Default or potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such or (iii) the substitution of another company as principal debtor under any Notes in place of the Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 11 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative practice.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the relevant Notes.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued.

Although Notes which are admitted to trading on a regulated market within the UK or offered to the public in the UK in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the UK Prospectus Regulation are required to have a minimum Specified Denomination of €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes), it is possible that the Notes may be traded in the clearing systems in amounts in excess of €100,000 (or its equivalent) that are not integral multiples of €100,000 (or its equivalent). In such a case, should definitive Notes be required to be issued, Noteholders who hold Notes in the relevant clearing system in amounts that are not integral multiples of a Specified Denomination may need to purchase or sell, on or before the relevant Exchange Date, a principal amount of Notes such that their holding is an integral multiple of a Specified Denomination.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell their Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market for the Notes does develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives, are being issued to a single investor or a limited number of investors or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. In addition, liquidity may be limited if the Issuer makes large allocations of Notes to a limited number of investors.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he will be exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of their holding, In addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to

make payments in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in those Notes.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or an issue of Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the assigning rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes in the EEA, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by third country non-EEA credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EEA-registered credit rating agency or the relevant third country rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by ESMA on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.

Investors regulated in the UK are subject to similar restrictions under the UK CRA Regulation. As such, UK regulated investors are required to use for UK regulatory purposes ratings issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of ratings issued by third country non-UK credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either be: (a) endorsed by a UK registered credit rating agency; or (b) issued by a third country credit rating agency that is certified in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case, to (a) the relevant UK registration, certification or endorsement, as the case may be, not having been withdrawn or suspended, and (b) transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances.

If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes for the purposes of the CRA Regulation or the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes in the EEA or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment, which may impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary market. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Prospectus.

Enforceability of judgments

The UK left the EU on 31 January 2020 ("Brexit") and the transitional period agreed in the withdrawal agreement, during which EU law continued to apply to the UK, expired on 31 December 2020. As a result, the Recast Brussels Regulation (Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2012) has ceased to apply to the UK (and English court judgments). As no new reciprocal agreement on civil justice has been agreed, there will be a period of uncertainty concerning the enforcement of English court judgments in Sweden following Brexit. As a result, a judgment entered against the Issuer in an English court may not be recognised or enforceable in Sweden as a matter of law without a retrial on its merits (but the English judgment will be of persuasive authority as a matter of evidence before the courts of law and executive or other public authorities in Sweden).

Terms and Conditions of the Notes

The following is the text of the Terms and Conditions that, subject to completion accordance with the provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes. Either (i) the full text of these Terms and Conditions together with the relevant provisions of Part A of the Final Terms or (ii) these Terms and Conditions as so completed (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in these Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are constituted by an Amended and Restated Trust Deed dated 29 May 2009 as supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Deed dated 28 May 2010, the Second Supplemental Trust Deed dated 27 May 2011, the Third Supplemental Trust Deed dated 28 June 2013, the Fourth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 28 May 2014, the Fifth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 30 May 2018, the Sixth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 29 May 2019, the Seventh Supplemental Trust Deed dated 25 May 2022, the Eighth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 16 September 2022, the Ninth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 13 June 2023 and the Tenth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 23 May 2024 (as further amended or supplemented as at the date of issue of the Notes (the "Issue Date"), the "Trust Deed") between the Issuer and Citicorp Trustee Company Limited (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the Noteholders (as defined below). These terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bearer Notes, Certificates, Coupons and Talons referred to below. An Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the "Agency Agreement") dated 28 May 2014 has been entered into in relation to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as initial issuing and paying agent, the calculation agent and the other agents named in it. The issuing and paying agent, the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Issuing and Paying Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Issuing and Paying Agent), the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agents" (which expression shall include the Registrar) and the "Calculation Agent(s)". Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during usual business hours at the principal office of the Trustee (presently at Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, London E14 5LB) and at the specified offices of the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents.

The Noteholders and the holders of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") appertaining to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") (the "Couponholders") are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant Final Terms and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Agency Agreement.

1 Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes", which expression includes Notes that are specified to be Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form ("Registered Notes") or in bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes ("Exchangeable Bearer Notes"), in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) shown provided that, in the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market within the United Kingdom or offered to the public in the United Kingdom in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes).

All Registered Notes shall have the same Denomination. Where Exchangeable Bearer Notes are issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same Denomination as the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or a CPI Linked Interest Note, a combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

This Note may be a CPI Linked Redemption Note, depending upon the Redemption/Payment basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Notes that do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates") and, save as provided in Condition 2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register that the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the "Register"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" means the bearer of any Bearer Note or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), "holder" (in relation to a Note, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

2 Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

(a) Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes

Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same aggregate principal amount of Registered Notes (in respect of which a new Certificate will be issued) at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and upon surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured Coupons and Talons relating to it, at the specified office of any Transfer Agent; provided, however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date (as defined in Condition 7(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that payment of interest need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Denomination. Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

(b) Transfer of Registered Notes

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer and the Trustee), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed ("Redeemed Notes") will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion). In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee

in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any Noteholder upon request.

(c) Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes

In the case of an exercise of an Issuer's or Noteholders' option in respect of, or a partial redemption of, a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.

(d) Delivery of New Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Condition 2(a), (b) or (c) shall be available for delivery within five business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 6(f)) or surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case may be) to which delivery or surrender of such request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the relevant Transfer Agent the costs of such other method of delivery and/or such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar.

(e) Exchange Free of Charge

Exchange and transfer of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, exercise of an option or partial redemption shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

(f) Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of that Note, after any such Note has been called for redemption or (ii) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date. An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Certificate is simultaneously surrendered not later than the relevant Record Date.

3 Status

The Notes and Coupons constitute (subject to Condition 4), direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation

and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at least equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Issuer, present and future.

4 Negative Pledge

- (a) So long as any of the Notes or Coupons remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) neither the Issuer nor any Subsidiary (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall create or permit to subsist any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of encumbrance or security interest ("Security") upon the whole or any part of their respective undertakings, assets or revenues present or future to secure any Relevant Debt, or any guarantee of or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Debt, unless, at the same time or prior thereto, the Issuer's obligations under the Notes, Coupons and the Trust Deed (A) are secured equally and rateably therewith to the satisfaction of the Trustee or (B) have the benefit of such other security, guarantee, indemnity or other arrangement as the Trustee in its absolute discretion shall deem to be not materially less beneficial to the Noteholders or as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders.
- (b) For the purposes of this Condition, "Relevant Debt" means any present or future indebtedness in the form of, or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities that are for the time being, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in on any stock exchange, automated trading system, over-the-counter or other securities market, having an original maturity of more than one year from its date of issue.

5 Interest and other Calculations

(a) Rate of Interest and Accrual

Each Note bears interest on its outstanding principal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date (as specified in the Final Terms). The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(g).

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the full amount of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

(b) Business Day Convention

If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (i) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (ii) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (iii) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (iv) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(c) Interest on Floating Rate Notes

Subject to paragraph (iii) below, if the Rate of Interest is specified as being Floating Rate, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period:

(i) if the Primary Source for the Floating Rate is a Relevant Screen Page, subject as provided below, shall be:

- (x) the offered quotation; or
- (y) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page on that service which displays the information) as at either 11.00 a.m. Brussels time in the case of EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m. Stockholm time in the case of STIBOR, or 12:00 noon Oslo time in the case of NIBOR on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

- if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, sub-paragraph (i)(x) above (ii) applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if sub-paragraph (i)(y) above applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page in each case as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall notify the Issuer and the Issuer, or an agent appointed by it, shall request, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, the principal Stockholm office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, the principal Oslo office of each of the Reference Banks, to provide its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Stockholm time), or if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at approximately 12:00 noon. (Oslo time) on the Interest Determination Date in question and the Issuer, or an agent appointed by it, shall notify the Calculation Agent of all quotations received by it. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer or an agent appointed by it, as applicable, with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
- (iii) if paragraph (ii) above applies and on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides an offered quotation as provided in the preceding paragraph, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to the Issuer, or any agent appointed by it, upon request (and notified to the Calculation Agent by the Issuer or an agent appointed by the Issuer) by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Stockholm time), or if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at approximately 12:00 noon (Oslo time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, the Stockholm inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, the Oslo inter-bank market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Issuer or an agent appointed by the Issuer with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Stockholm time), or if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, at approximately 12:00 noon (Oslo time), on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or

more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, or, if the Reference Rate is STIBOR, the Stockholm inter-bank market, or, if the Reference Rate is NIBOR, the Oslo inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

(d) Interest on CPI Linked Interest Notes

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time for each Interest Period (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) will be equal to the rate per annum specified in the applicable Final Terms multiplied by the Inflation Index Ratio (as defined in this Condition 5(d)). For the purposes of this Condition 5(d):

- (i) "CPI" means the Swedish consumer price index as published by Statistiska Centralbyrån (Statistics Sweden) ("SCB") on its website at http://www.scb.se/, or on such replacement website or page on which such information is published.
- (ii) **"Expert"** means an independent investment bank of international repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international debt capital markets or other expert in Sweden, appointed by the Issuer at its own expense and notified in writing to the Trustee.
- (iii) "Inflation Index Ratio" means the Interest Rate Index divided by the Base Index (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) as determined by the Calculation Agent.
- (iv) "Interest Rate Index" means the CPI for the Relevant Month (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) relating to the relevant Interest Payment Date. If the CPI for the applicable Relevant Month has not been published within ten (10) Business Days before the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Interest Rate Index shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as the higher of:
 - (x) the index announced by the Swedish National Debt Office for the purposes of the Benchmark Bond specified in the applicable Final Terms on or before the tenth Business Day before the relevant Interest Payment Date on such basis as may apply to the Benchmark Bond; or
 - (y) the CPI most recently published before the applicable Relevant Month.

If the CPI is no longer established or published, an equivalent index of consumer prices in Sweden using the same or a substantially similar formula or method of calculation which is calculated or has been published by SCB or by such body as establishes or publishes such an index in the place of SCB (the "Replacement Index") shall be used instead. The Replacement Index shall be selected by an Expert (in consultation with the Issuer), or, if it has not been possible to appoint an Expert on commercially reasonable terms, by the Issuer. In the event of the CPI being replaced, the Replacement Index shall be converted to the index series upon which the Base Index is based.

(e) Interest on Zero Coupon Notes

Where a Note the Rate of Interest of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Redemption Amount of such Note determined in accordance with Condition 6(c). As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue

principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 6(c)).

- (f) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Redemption Amounts and Rounding
 - (i) If any Margin (as specified in the Final Terms) is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with Condition 5(c) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin, subject always to the next paragraph.
 - (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.
 - (iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions, (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that are due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means 0.01 euro.

(g) Calculations

The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified hereon, and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

(h) Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts and Redemption Amounts

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on each Interest Determination Date, or such other time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any Redemption Amount, obtain any quote or make any determination or calculation, determine the Rate of Interest and calculate the amount of interest payable (the "Interest Amounts") for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Redemption Amount, obtain such quote or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Redemption Amount to be notified to the Trustee, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, such exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of an Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 5(b), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made with the prior written consent of the Trustee by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made unless the Trustee otherwise requires. The determination of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Redemption Amount, the obtaining of each quote and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(i) Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Business Day" means:

- (i) in the case of a specified currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for that currency; and/or
- (ii) in the case of euro, a day on which T2 is operating (a "T2 Business Day"); and/or
- (iii) in the case of a specified currency and/or one or more specified financial centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the specified currency in the specified financial centre(s) or, if no currency is specified, generally in each of the financial centres so specified.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period or Interest Accrual Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual ISDA" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (x) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (y) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iii) if "Actual/360" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (iv) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D₁" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30;

(v) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls:

 $"M_1"$ is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D₁" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

(vi) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" Y_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

"Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 $"M_1"$ is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30; and

(vii) if "Actual/Actual-ICMA" is specified hereon:

- (a) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
- (b) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
 - (x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
 - (y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

where:

"Determination Date" means the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the Interest Determination Date.

"**Determination Period**" means the period from and including an Interest Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Interest Determination Date.

"EURIBOR" means the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date.

"Interest Amount" means:

- (i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest Accrual Period forms part; and
- (ii) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that period.

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon.

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified and the Specified Currency is not euro, the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or the day falling two Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is not Sterling.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date (or, in either case, the relevant Payment Date if the Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date).

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon.

"NIBOR" means the Norwegian inter-bank offered rate.

"Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions in the relevant Final Terms.

"Reference Banks" means, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in the case of a determination of STIBOR, the principal Stockholm office of four major banks in the Stockholm inter-bank market, in the case of a determination of NIBOR, the principal Oslo office of four major banks, in each case selected by the Issuer.

"Reference Rates" means the rate specified as such hereon.

"Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified hereon.

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified hereon or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

"STIBOR" means the Stockholm inter-bank offered rate.

"T2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross-Settlement Express Transfer System or any successor or replacement for that system.

(j) Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Final Terms the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided, however, that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

"Designated Maturity" means the period of time designated in the Reference Rate.

(k) Calculation Agent

The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in the relevant Final Terms and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed). Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under these Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall (with the prior written approval of the Trustee) appoint a leading bank or investment banking firm engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or overthe-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

(I) Benchmark Replacement

If, notwithstanding the provisions of 5(c), the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to the Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any

component part thereof) to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions shall apply:

- (A) Independent Adviser: the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner):
 - (x) a Successor Reference Rate;
 - (y) failing which, an Alternative Reference Rate,

and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (each as defined and further described below) no later than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date relating to the next succeeding Interest Period (the "IA Determination Cut-off Date") for the purposes of determining the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for such next Interest Period and for all future Interest Periods (subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 5(I) during any other future Interest Period(s));

- (B) Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate: If the Independent Adviser (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) determines that:
 - there is a Successor Reference Rate, then such Successor Reference Rate (as adjusted by the applicable Adjustment Spread as provided in Condition 5(I)(C)) shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the subsequent operation of, and adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(I)); or
 - (y) there is no Successor Reference Rate but that there is an Alternative Reference Rate then such Alternative Reference Rate (as adjusted by the applicable Adjustment Spread as provided in Condition 5(I)(C)) shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the subsequent further operation this Condition 5(I).
- (C) Adjustment Spread: if a Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate is determined in accordance with Condition 5(I)(B), the Independent Adviser (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) shall determine an Adjustment Spread (which may be expressed as a specified quantum or a formula or methodology for determining the applicable Adjustment Spread), which Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the relevant Successor Reference Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable)), subject to the subsequent further operation and adjustment as provided in this Condition 5(I).
- (D) Benchmark Amendments: If any Successor Reference Rate, Alternative Reference Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 5(I) and the Independent Adviser (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) determines:
 - (1) that changes to these terms and conditions and/or the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary in order to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments"); and
 - (2) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments,

then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice therefore in accordance with Condition 5(I)(E), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders or Couponholders, vary these Conditions, the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

(E) Notices, etc.: The Issuer shall no later than the IA Determination Cut-off Date notify the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Calculation Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable), the Trustee, each of the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent and promptly thereafter notify, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders of any Successor Reference Rate Alternative Reference Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments determined under this Condition 5(I). Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any. No later than notifying the Trustee of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Authorised Signatories of the Issuer confirming (i) that a Benchmark Event has occurred; (ii) the Successor Reference Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Reference Rate; and (iii) any Adjustment Spread; (iv) where applicable, the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments pursuant to sub-paragraph (D) above and certifying that the Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Reference Rate, Alternative Reference Rate and/or Adjustment Spread and that the Issuer has duly consulted with an Independent Adviser with respect to each of the matters above.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without enquiry or liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any), the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and any such other relevant changes pursuant to this Condition 5(I) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error in the determination of the Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent, the Noteholders and the Couponholders.

Subject to receipt by the Trustee of this certificate, the Trustee, the Paying Agents and the Calculation Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer and without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders or Couponholders, concur in effecting the Benchmark Amendments required to the Trust Deed (including, inter alia, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed), the Agency Agreement and these terms and conditions and the Trustee, the Paying Agents and the Calculation Agent shall not be liable to any party for any consequences thereof and provided that none of the Trustee, the Paying Agents and the Calculation Agent shall be obliged so to concur if, in its opinion, doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend the protective provisions and/or rights afforded to it in these terms and conditions, the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed or supplemental agency agreement) in any way.

In connection with such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(I), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

No consent of the Noteholders shall be required in connection with effecting the relevant Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) described in this Condition 5(I) or such other relevant changes pursuant to this Condition 5(I), including for the execution of any documents or the taking of other steps by the Issuer or any of the parties to the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement (if required).

- (F) Survival of Original Reference Rate: Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under this Condition 5(I), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(c) will continue to apply unless and until the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Calculation Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) has been notified of the Successor Reference Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as the case may be), the applicable Adjustment Spread and Benchmark Amendments (if applicable), in accordance with Condition 5(I)(F).
- (G) Fallbacks: If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event and in relation to the determination of the Rate of Interest on the immediately following Interest Determination Date, the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or no Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread is determined pursuant to this Condition 5(I) prior to the IA Determination Cut-off Date and the Relevant Screen Page is no longer available for use, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Interest Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Period (which may be the initial Rate of Interest) (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period for which the Rate of Interest was determined, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

For the avoidance of doubt, this Condition 5(I) shall apply to the determination of the Rate of Interest on the relevant Interest Determination Date only, and the Rate of Interest applicable to any subsequent Interest Period(s) is subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(I).

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Adjustment Spread" means a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero) or the specified quantum, formula or methodology for calculating a spread, which the relevant Independent Adviser determines is required to be applied to a Successor Reference Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

- in the case of a Successor Reference Rate, is formally recommended or formally provided as an option for the parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with such Successor Reference Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body;
- (ii) (if no such recommendation or option has been made (or made available), or in the case of an Alternative Reference Rate) the Independent Adviser determines is recognised or acknowledged as being in customary usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Reference Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable);
- (iii) (if no such determination has been made, the Independent Adviser determines is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by such Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable); or
- (iv) (if no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged), the Independent Adviser in its discretion determines (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) to be appropriate to reduce or eliminate, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders and Couponholders as a result of the

replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Reference Rate or the Alternative Reference Rate (as applicable).

"Alternative Reference Rate" means an alternative rate to the Original Reference Rate which the Independent Adviser determines, in accordance with Condition 5(I)(A) has replaced the Original Reference Rate in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for the same interest period and in the same Specified Currency as the Notes or, if such Independent Adviser determines that there is no such rate, such other rate as such Independent Adviser determines in its discretion is most comparable to the Original Reference Rate.

"Benchmark Event" means:

- (i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing be published for a period of at least 5 Business Days or ceasing permanently to be calculated, administered and published; or
- (ii) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will, on or before a specified date, cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate) and (b) the date falling six months prior to the date specified in (a) above; or
- (iii) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, that the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (iv) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate will, on or before a specified date, be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and (b) the date falling six months prior to the date specified in (a) above; or
- (v) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that means the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, in each case on or before a specified date and (b) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (a) above; or
- (vi) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of such Original Reference Rate announcing that such Original Reference Rate is or will, on or before a specified date, be no longer representative and (b) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (a) above; or
- (vii) it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date become unlawful for any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other party specified in the applicable Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount(s) to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate (including, without limitation, under the EU Benchmarks Regulation, if applicable).

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international debt capital markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense and notified in writing to the Trustee. For the avoidance of doubt, an Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(I) shall act in good faith as an expert and (in the absence of bad faith or fraud) shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders or the Couponholders for any determination made by it pursuant to this Condition 5(I).

"Original Reference Rate" means the originally-specified Reference Rate used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) in respect of any Interest Period(s) (provided that if, following one or more Benchmark Events, such originally-

specified Reference Rate (or any Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate which has replaced it) has been replaced by a (or a further) Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate and a Benchmark Event subsequently occurs in respect of such Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate, the term "Original Reference Rate" shall include any such Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate).

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of an Original Reference Rate:

- the central bank, reserve bank, monetary authority or any similar institution for the currency to which the Original Reference Rate relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the Original Reference Rate; or
- (ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank, reserve bank, monetary authority or any similar institution for the currency to which the Original Reference Rate relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the Original Reference Rate, (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities, or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

"Successor Reference Rate" means a successor to or the replacement of the Original Reference Rate or, where a Successor Reference Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate has been determined in accordance with Condition 5(I)(A), such Successor Reference Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate, as applicable, which is formally recommended or formally provided as an option for parties to adopt, by any Relevant Nominating Body.

6 Redemption, Purchase and Options

- (a) Final Redemption
 - (i) Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note, other than where Condition 6(a)(ii) below is applicable, shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, is its principal amount).
 - (ii) If CPI Linked Redemption is indicated as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Final Redemption Amount will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:
 - (iii) Final Redemption Amount = Inflation Index Ratio x nominal amount of the Notes
 - (iv) However, if the Final Index is lower than the Base Index (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) the Final Index will be deemed to be the same as the Base Index for the determination of the Final Redemption Amount.

For the purposes of this Condition 6(a)(ii):

- (x) "Final Index" means the CPI for the Relevant Month of the Relevant Year (each as specified in the applicable Final Terms). If the CPI for the Relevant Month of the Relevant Year is not published within ten (10) Business Days before the Maturity Date, the Final Index shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as the higher of:
 - the index announced by the Swedish National Debt Office for the purposes of the Benchmark Bond (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) on or before the tenth Business Day before the Maturity Date on such basis as may apply to the Benchmark Bond; or
 - the CPI most recently published before the Relevant Month in the Relevant Year.
- (y) "Inflation Index Ratio" means the Final Index divided by the Base Index (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) as determined by the Calculation Agent.

If the CPI is no longer established or published, an equivalent index of consumer prices in Sweden using the same or a substantially similar formula or method of calculation which is calculated or has been published by SCB or by such body as establishes or publishes such an index in the place of SCB (the "Replacement Index"). In the event of the CPI being replaced, the Replacement Index shall be converted to the index series upon which the Base Index is based.

- (b) Early Redemption Amount Notes other than Zero Coupon Notes
 - (i) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note other than a Zero Coupon Note will be calculated as follows:
 - in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof;
 - (y) in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note or a CPI Linked Redemption Note) with a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price, at the amount specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such amount is so specified in the applicable Final Terms, at its nominal amount;
 - in the case of a CPI Linked Redemption Note, at its nominal amount multiplied by the Inflation Index Ratio as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 6(a)(ii) above, except that the date on which the early redemption is to take place shall be used to calculate the "Final Index" rather than the Maturity Date.
- (c) Early Redemption Amount Zero Coupon Notes
 - (i) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note that does not bear interest prior to the Maturity Date, the Early Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(d) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note.
 - (ii) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (iii) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown in the relevant Final Terms, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually. Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown in the relevant Final Terms.
 - (iii) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 6(d) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (ii) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the reference therein to the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were replaced by a reference to the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(e).

(d) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

Subject to Conditions 6(b) and 6(c), the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note or CPI Linked Interest Note) or, at any time, (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note or CPI Linked Interest Note) on giving not less than the minimum period nor more than the

maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their Early Redemption Amount (together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption), if:

- (i) the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of such notice that it has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as described under Condition 8 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Sweden or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and
- (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due.

Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (x) a certificate signed by two Authorised Signatories of the Issuer stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and (y) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing acceptable to the Trustee to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate and/or opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out in (ii) above in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.

(e) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

If Issuer Call is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, on giving not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of irrevocable notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Noteholders, redeem all or, if so provided, some of the Notes in the principal amount or integral multiples thereof on any Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

In the case of a partial redemption, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place as the Trustee may approve and in such manner as it deems appropriate, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements.

(f) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders

If Investor Put is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, redeem such Note upon the holder of such Note giving not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Issuer on the Option Redemption Dates at its Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of Registered Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice ("Exercise Notice") in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No Note or

Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

(g) Purchases

The Issuer and any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price.

(h) Cancellation

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may be surrendered for cancellation. Bearer Notes to be cancelled shall be cancelled by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Issuing and Paying Agent and Registered Notes to be cancelled shall be cancelled by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, such Notes shall be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7 Payments and Talons

(a) Bearer Notes

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 7(f)(ii)), as the case may be, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre for that currency or, in the case of payment in euro, by transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be transferred) specified by the holder; provided that, in the case of Bearer Notes and Coupons, payments will not be made by transfer to an account maintained in the United States.

(b) Registered Notes

- (i) Payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in subparagraph (ii) below.
- (ii) Interest on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register (i) where in global form, at the close of the business day (being for the purpose a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are open for business) before the relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive form at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the holder (or first named of joint holders) with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of that currency or, in the case of payment in euro, by transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be transferred) specified by the holder.

(c) Payments in the United States

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in US dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.

(d) Payments subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8

(e) Appointment of Agents

The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Issuing and Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time with the prior written approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of the Issuing and Paying Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain:

- (i) an Issuing and Paying Agent,
- (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes,
- (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes,
- (iv) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where these Conditions so require,
- (v) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two major European cities (including London, so long as the Notes are admitted to the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and admitted to trading on the main market of the London Stock Exchange), and
- (vi) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed in each case, as approved in writing in advance by the Trustee.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in US dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 7(c).

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

(f) Unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons

- (i) Upon the due date for redemption of, Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes they should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Redemption Amount due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 9).
- (ii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note or CPI Linked Interest Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.

- (iv) Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (v) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be.

(g) Talons

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 9).

(h) Non-Business Days

If any date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, in such jurisdictions (if any) as shall be specified as "Business Centres" hereon or in the relevant Final Terms and:

- (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency; or
- (ii) (in the case of a payment in euro) which is a T2 Business Day.

8 Taxation

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes and the Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within Sweden or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax ("**Taxes**"), unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders and Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

(a) Other connection:

to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such Taxes in respect of the Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with Sweden other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon;

(b) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date:

presented (or in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for payment on the last day of the period of 30 days; or

(c) Lawful avoidance of withholding:

to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such withholding or deduction by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority in the place where the relevant Note (or the Certificate representing it) or Coupons is presented for payment.

As used in these Conditions, "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate) or Coupon being made in accordance with these Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.

References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition or any undertaking given in addition to or in substitution for it under the Trust Deed.

9 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes and Coupons (which, for this purpose, shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

10 Events of Default

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") occurs and is continuing, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and payable at their Redemption Amount together with accrued interest:

(a) Non-Payment

default is made for more than 5 Business Days in the payment on the due date of principal or 10 Business Days in the payment on the due date of interest in respect of any of the Notes; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations

the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations under the Notes or the Trust Deed which default is incapable of remedy or, if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion of the Trustee remedied within 30 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or

(c) Cross-Default

- (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (as defined in the Trust Deed) for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of an event of default (howsoever described);
- (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any applicable grace period; or

(iii) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (c) have occurred equals or exceeds U.S.\$10,000,000 or its equivalent (as determined by the Trustee, such determination to be final and conclusive); or

(d) Enforcement Proceedings

a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced or sued out on or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and is not discharged or stayed within 90 days; or

(e) Security Enforced

any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, created or assumed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person); or

(f) Insolvency

the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of (or of a particular type of) its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or (in the opinion of the Trustee) an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries; or

(g) Winding-up

an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries shall apply or petition for a winding-up or administration order in respect of itself or cease or through an official action of its board of directors threaten to cease to carry on all or (in the opinion of the Trustee) substantially all of its business or operations, in each case except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (i) on terms previously approved by the Trustee in writing or by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders or (ii) in the case of a Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another of its Subsidiaries; or

(h) Ownership

the Issuer ceases to be directly or indirectly majority owned and controlled by the Kingdom of Sweden; or

(i) Authorisation and Consents

any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into, exercise its respective rights and perform and comply with its respective obligations under the Notes and the Trust Deed, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes and the Trust Deed admissible in evidence in the courts of Sweden is not taken, fulfilled or done; or

(j) Analogous Events

any event occurs that under the laws of Sweden has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs;

provided that in the case of paragraphs (d), (e), and, in relation to the winding up of any Subsidiaries only, (g), (i) and (j), the Trustee shall have certified that such event is, in its opinion, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails or is unable so to do within 120 days and the failure or inability shall be continuing.

11 Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution

(a) Meetings of Noteholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings (including by way of conference call or by use of a videoconference platform) of Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The guorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution shall be two or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity or redemption of the Notes or any date for payment of interest or Interest Amounts on the Notes, (ii) to reduce or cancel the principal amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (iii) to reduce the rate or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of interest or the basis for calculating any Interest Amount in respect of the Notes, (iv) if a Minimum and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is shown hereon, to reduce any such Minimum and/or Maximum, (v) to vary any method of, or basis for, calculating the Redemption Amount, including the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, (vi) to vary the currency or currencies of payment or denomination of the Note (vii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the Extraordinary Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing not less than three quarters, or at any adjourned meeting not less than one quarter, in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on Noteholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.

These Conditions may be completed in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the relevant Final Terms in relation to such Series.

(b) Modification of the Trust Deed

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that is (in the opinion of the Trustee) of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed that is in the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders and, if the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders and the Couponholders as soon as practicable. In addition, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 5(I) without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

(c) Substitution

The Trust Deed contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require, but without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, to the substitution of any other entity in place of the Issuer, or of any previous substituted entity, as principal debtor under the Trust Deed and the Notes. In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, to a change of the law governing the Notes, the Coupons, the Talons and/or the Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. If the Issuer is substituted, new listing particulars will be produced.

(d) Entitlement of the Trustee

In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders. The Trustee has no responsibility for the maintenance of any rating assigned to the Notes.

(e) Change and Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains general provisions for the retirement and removal of the Trustee and the appointment by the Issuer of a successor Trustee which has previously been approved by an Extraordinary Resolution. The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

12 Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Coupons or Talons) and of the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them and/or the Issue Price (as specified hereon)) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single series with the Notes. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains provisions for

convening a single meeting of the Noteholders and the holders of securities of other series where the Trustee so decides.

14 Notices

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times). If in the opinion of the Trustee any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as provided above.

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.

15 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

16 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Notes, the Coupons, the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes, the Coupons and the Talons are governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

(b) Jurisdiction

Subject to this Condition 16(b), the English courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, any Notes, Coupons or Talons (including any dispute as to their existence, validity, interpretation, performance, breach or termination or the consequences of their nullity and any dispute relating to non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, any Notes, Coupons or Talons) (a "Dispute") and all Disputes will be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

For the purposes of this Condition 16(b), the Issuer waives any objection to the English courts on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum to settle any Dispute.

To the extent allowed by law, the Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may, in respect of any Dispute or Disputes, take (i) proceedings in any other court with jurisdiction; and (ii) concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

(c) Service of Process

The Issuer irrevocably appoints Business Sweden - The Swedish Trade & Invest Council currently located at 5 Upper Montagu Street, W1H 2AG London, United Kingdom as its agent for service of process in respect of any proceedings before the English courts in relation to a Dispute, and agrees that, in the event of Business Sweden - The Swedish Trade & Invest Council being unable or unwilling for any reason so to act, it will immediately appoint another person approved by the Trustee as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Dispute. The Issuer agrees that failure by a process agent to notify it of any process will not invalidate service. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

(d) Immunity from Proceedings

The Issuer irrevocably agrees that, should any proceedings in relation to a Dispute ("**Proceedings**") be taken anywhere (whether for any injunction, specific performance, damages or otherwise), no immunity (to the extent that it may at any time exist, whether

on the grounds of sovereignty or otherwise) from those Proceedings, from attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) of its assets or from execution of judgment shall be claimed by it or on its behalf or with respect to its assets, any such immunity being irrevocably waived. The Issuer irrevocably agrees that it and its assets are, and shall be, subject to such Proceedings, attachment or execution in respect of its obligations under these Conditions.

Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes While in Global Form

Initial Issue of Notes

Global Notes which are issued in CGN form and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS may be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the "Common Depositary"). If the Global Note is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with the Common Depositary or registration of Registered Notes in the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the delivery of the relative Global Certificate to the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

If the Global Notes are to be issued in NGN form or the Global Certificates are held under NSS (as the case may be), the Global Notes or the Global Certificates will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Global Notes or the Global Certificates with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are issued under the NSS or in NGN form, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be notified as to whether or not such Global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility.

If the Global Note is an NGN the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing system shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note and a statement issued by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing system at that time.

Notes that are initially deposited with the Common Depositary may also be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Approved Intermediaries or (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, Notes that are initially deposited with any other clearing system may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or other clearing systems (or Approved Intermediaries).

Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other clearing system (as the case may be) for their share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Bearer Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other clearing system (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

Exchange

1 Temporary Global Notes

Each Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date:

(i) if the relevant Final Terms indicate that the Global Note is issued in compliance with the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "Overview of the Programme – Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for the Definitive Notes defined and described below; and

(ii) otherwise, in whole or in part upon certification as to non-US beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement for interests in a Permanent Global Note or, if so provided in the relevant Final Terms, for Definitive Notes.

Each Temporary Global Note which is also an Exchangeable Bearer Note will be exchangeable in whole or from time to time in part for one or more Registered Notes in accordance with the Conditions on or after the Issue Date but before its Exchange Date, by its presentation to the Issuing and Paying Agent.

2 Permanent Global Notes

Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date in whole but not, except as provided under paragraph 4 below, in part for Definitive Notes or (if the Permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Global Note) Registered Notes represented by Certificates:

- (i) if the Permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note, by the holder giving notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent of its election to exchange the whole or a part of such Permanent Global Note for Registered Notes; and
- (ii) if the Permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System"), and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so.

In the event that a Global Note is exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Definitive Notes shall be issued in Specified Denomination(s) only. Noteholders who hold Notes in the relevant clearing system in amounts that are not integral multiples of a Specified Denomination may need to purchase or sell, on or before the relevant Exchange Date, a principal amount of Notes such that their holding is an integral multiple of a Specified Denomination.

3 Permanent Global Certificates

If the Final Terms state that the Notes are to be represented by a Permanent Global Certificate on issue, transfers of the holding of Notes represented by any Global Certificate pursuant to Condition 2(b) may only be made in part:

- (i) if the Notes represented by the Global Certificate are held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so; or
- (ii) with the consent of the Issuer;

provided that, in the case of the first transfer of part of a holding pursuant to (i) above, the Registered Holder has given the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of the Registered Holder's intention to effect such transfer.

4 Partial Exchange of Permanent Global Notes

For so long as a Permanent Global Note is held by or on behalf of a clearing system and the rules of that clearing system permit, such Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in part on one or more occasions for Registered Notes if the Permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note and the part submitted for exchange is to be exchanged for Registered Notes.

5 Delivery of Notes

On or after any due date for exchange the holder of a Global Note may surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, the Issuer will (i) in the case of a Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a Permanent Global Note in an aggregate principal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a Temporary

Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a Permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes and/or Certificates, as the case may be. In this Prospectus, "Definitive Notes" means, in relation to any Global Note, the definitive Bearer Notes for which such Global Note may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest that have not already been paid on the Global Note and (if applicable) a Talon). Definitive Notes will be security printed and Certificates will be printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in the Schedules to the Trust Deed. On exchange in full of each Permanent Global Note, the Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Definitive Notes.

6 Exchange Date

"Exchange Date" means, in relation to a Temporary Global Note, on or after the first day following the expiry of 40 days after its issue date and, in relation to a Permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 days, or in the case of an exchange for Registered Notes five days after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

7 Amendment to Conditions

The Temporary Global Notes, Permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions that apply to the Notes that they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this Prospectus. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

8 Payments

No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global Note unless exchange for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for Definitive Notes or Registered Notes is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any Temporary Global Note issued in compliance with the D Rules before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-US beneficial ownership dated no earlier than the due date for such payment in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payments fall to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note at the specified office of the Issuing and Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent provided for in the Conditions. A record of each payment, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be endorsed on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to whom it was presented or will be made in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as applicable.

9 Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of Notes that are represented by a Permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and 5 years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

10 Meetings

For the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, the holder of a Permanent Global Note shall be treated as having one vote in respect of each integral currency unit of the Specified Currency of the Notes. (All holders of Registered Notes are entitled to one vote in respect of each Note comprising such Noteholder's holding, whether or not represented by a Global Certificate.)

11 Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note represented by a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note that is required by the Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption)

will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note on its presentation to or to the order of the Issuing and Paying Agent for endorsement.

12 Purchase

Notes represented by a Permanent Global Note may only be purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest (if any) thereon.

13 Issuer's Option

Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing all information required by the Conditions, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial exercise of an option and accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required.

14 Noteholders' Options

Any option of the Noteholders provided for in the Conditions of any Notes while such Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note may be exercised by the holder of the Permanent Global Note giving notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent within the time limits relating to the deposit of Notes with a Paying Agent set out in the Conditions substantially in the form of the notice available from any Paying Agent, except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of the Notes in respect of which the option has been exercised and at the same time presenting the Permanent Global Note to the Issuing and Paying Agent, or to a Paying Agent acting on behalf of the Issuing and Paying Agent, for notation.

15 Trustee's Powers

In considering the interests of Noteholders while any Global Note is held on behalf of, or Registered Notes are registered in the name of any nominee for, a clearing system, the Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders or participants with entitlements to such Global Note or Registered Notes and may consider such interests on the basis that such accountholders were the holders of the Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate.

16 Notices

So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to the holders of Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note.

Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds of each issue of Notes will be used by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes. If, in respect of an issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

Where the "reasons for the offer" item of the applicable Final Terms refers to Green Bonds, the Issuer intends to apply an amount equal to the net proceeds from such issue of Notes (such Notes, "Green Bonds"), in whole or in part, specifically to finance and/or refinance investments (the "Eligible Green Projects and Assets") that comply with the categories and criteria (the "Eligibility Criteria") set out in the Issuer's Green Bond Framework, as published on its website from time to time (as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time, the "Green Bond Framework"). Pending allocation of the net proceeds of an issue of Green Bonds for investment in the Eligible Green Projects and Assets, such proceeds may be invested or utilised by the Issuer's treasury following the Issuer's financial policy. The Issuer will publish an annual report on its website that will set out the allocation of Green Bond net proceeds and adherence to the terms outlined in the Green Bond Framework.

The Issuer has obtained a second-party opinion from CICERO Shades of Green (the **"Second Party Opinion"**), an external environmental, social and corporate governance research and analysis provider, to confirm the current Green Bond Framework's alignment with the International Capital Market Association (ICMA) Green Bond Principles 2021.

The Green Bond Framework and the Second Party Opinion are available for viewing on the Issuer's website at https://www.akademiskahus.se/en/about-us/financial-information/financing/green-financing/.

The Issuer may update or revise the Green Bond Framework from time to time and the current Second Party Opinion will not apply to any future frameworks prepared by the Issuer. If the Issuer obtains a new second party opinion from a provider in respect of any such updated or revised Green Bond Framework, it is expected to be made available for viewing on the Issuer's website.

No assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion, report or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) (including, without limitation, the Second Party Opinion) which may be made available in connection with the issue of any Green Bonds in particular with any Eligible Green Projects and Assets to fulfil any environmental, sustainability and/or other criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, neither any such opinion, report or certification nor the Green Bond Framework are, nor shall be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Prospectus. Neither such opinion, report or certification nor the Green Bond Framework are, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Arranger or any of the Dealers or any other person to buy, sell or hold any such Green Bonds. Any such opinion, report or certification is only current as at the date that opinion, report or certification was initially issued. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion, report or certification and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion, report or certification for the purpose of any investment in such Green Bonds. Currently, the providers of such opinions, reports and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Prospective investors in any Green Bonds should also refer to the risk factor above headed, "In respect of any Notes issued with a specific use of proceeds, such as "Green Bonds", there can be no assurance that such use of proceeds will be suitable for the investment criteria of an

Any additional information related to the use of proceeds will be set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Akademiska Hus

General

Akademiska Hus AB (publ) (the "Issuer", and together with its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole from time to time, the "Group" or "Akademiska Hus") was incorporated under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden as a limited liability company on 30 December 1992 under the Swedish Companies Act. The Issuer's registered office is at Box 483, 401 27 Göteborg, Sweden with telephone number +46 10 557 24 00. The Issuer commenced operations in October 1993. The Issuer is wholly-owned by the Kingdom of Sweden and complies with the ownership policy adopted by the Swedish Government. Administration is managed by a ministry, currently the Ministry of Finance which is the principal. The Issuer also complies with the Swedish Corporate Governance Code (the "Code"). The Code has been prepared for companies with a broad ownership base. For companies wholly owned by the Kingdom of Sweden the rules laid down in the Code regarding (i) election committee; (ii) appointment of Board of Directors and auditors; and (iii) the reporting of the independence of Board members, are replaced by guidelines in the ownership policy.

The Issuer owns, develops and manages properties for higher education and research institutes in Sweden, with focus on the major university and college cities. As of 31 December 2023, the property portfolio included rentable space of 3.4 million square meters and the assessed fair value of the properties as recorded in the accounts was SEK 114,600 million. The Issuer is one of the largest property companies in Sweden in terms of reported property values.¹

The Swedish State is responsible for the provision of higher education in Sweden and it has control over most of the universities and colleges. It has been the policy of the Swedish Government since the mid-forties to provide the Swedish people with free access to higher education.

In collaboration with academia, industry and the community, the Issuer aims to offer its customers sustainable and suitably designed campuses for study and research. With a long-term perspective in mind, the Issuer collaborates with its customers to develop campuses that are flexible and that can be further developed to meet current and future needs with sustainability in focus.

History

In the early 1990s, the Swedish Government, seeking greater efficiency, formed two new state-owned companies to take over the ownership and management of state-owned real estate, which until then had been directly owned and managed by a state authority.

The Group was assigned primary responsibility for university premises. During the first decade following its incorporation, the Group focused on the development of its business and made significant property investments as a result of the expansion in higher education. Over the years, interest in the community property market and the Group's special segment in that market, premises for higher education and research has increased, which in turn has increased competition.

A Governmental bill, adopted by the Swedish parliament in December 2013, clarified the Issuer's role and reiterated once more the intention for the Issuer to remain wholly-owned by the Kingdom of Sweden: "Akademiska Hus Aktiebolag will own, develop and manage properties for universities and colleges where the primary focus is on education and research and it will carry on operations compatible therewith. Operations will be run on a commercial basis and will generate a yield in line with the market by setting rents that take into account the operating risks. Akademiska Hus Aktiebolag will work to bring about long-term, sustainable development of university and college campuses", "Akademiska Hus Aktiebolag will remain wholly-owned by the State".

In autumn 2014 the role of Akademiska Hus was further clarified by the Swedish parliament as follows: "Akademiska Hus will contribute to the creation of more student accommodation by making clear that the company's focus includes the construction and management of student

_

According to the Issuer's calculations based on publicly available information.

accommodation." Contributing to student housing has become an integrated, but limited, part of Akademiska Hus' business.

In 2019 a concept of co-working, A Working Lab ("AWL"), was introduced into Akademiska Hus's business. AWL aims to provide campus-based premises designed to further encourage collaboration within research and development. The co-working initiative constitutes a very limited part of Akademiska Hus' business.

The organisational structure of Akademiska Hus has successively developed during the last ten years. At the end of 2012, the six property owning subsidiaries of the Issuer were merged into the Issuer. In 2017 the organisational structure of the Issuer was updated and it underwent a further smaller change in 2022. The purpose of the new structure was to establish, still within the limited liability company Akademiska Hus AB, three units for the main processes: one unit for property management, including student housing and AWL; a second unit for technical property management; and the third unit for project management. The aim of the new structure is to support the holistic approach within Akademiska Hus by further clarifying the focus on and responsibility for the three main processes. The subsidiary Akademiska Hus Utveckling och Support AB is a dormant company which does not conduct any business while the subsidiaries Akademiska Hus Holding AB and Akademiska Hus Holding 2 AB are available to hold shares in companies which may be established in connection with the sale of properties, if any, effected through the sale of the property-holding company.

Current Business

The following table is a summary of the consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet of the Issuer as at and for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 (on an audited basis):

	As of the year ended 31 December				
	20	23	20	22	
	(SEK million)	(€ million)*	(SEK million)	(€ million)*	
Income Statement					
Rental Revenue	7,511	674	6,845	613	
Total Property Management Income	7,651	687	6,954	623	
Total Property Management Expenses	-2,314	-208	-1,811	-162	
Net Operating Income	5,336	479	5,143	461	
Net interest income/expense	-868	-78	-452	-41	
Profit Before Changes in Value and Tax	4,264	383	4,490	402	
Changes in value, properties	-3,475	-312	1,108	99	
Changes in value, financial instruments	-298	-27	1,310	117	
Profit Before Appropriations and Tax	491	44	6,909	619	
Taxes	-184	-17	-1,419	-127	
Profit For the Year	307	28	5,490	492	
Statement of Financial Position					
Investment Properties	114,600	10,290	115,371	10,338	

Total Assets	130,494	11,717	130,113	11,658
Total Equity	62,515	5,613	65,353	5,856
Total Liabilities	67,979	6,104	64,760	5,803
Total Equities and Liabilities	130,494	11,717	130,113	11,658

^{*} Please note the euro amounts set out in this table do not appear in the audited consolidated Income Statement or Balance Sheet of the Issuer but have been included here for ease of reference. The translation of amounts from SEK to euro have been made using the rates set out on page 6 of this Prospectus.

Property portfolio

The following table sets out the categories of property (and percentage of rentable space) as at 31 December 2023:

Property category	Share of rentable space (%)
Teaching facilities	44
Laboratories	32
Office	15
Other*	7
Residential	2

^{*} Other includes sports halls, various agricultural facilities and restaurant areas.

The highest rents derive from laboratories and technical research facilities, as these are specialised and require a higher investment.

The following table shows the tenant categories, based on rental revenue as at 31 December 2023:

Tenant category	Share of rental revenue (%)
Universities and colleges	86
Chalmersfastigheter	3
Publicly financed operations	4
Other	7

Universities and colleges clearly dominate and account for approximately 90 per cent. of the rental revenue. The majority of these institutions are government controlled through the Ministry of Education and Research.

On average, Akademiska Hus's vacancies, historically and currently, have a lower rental level than the vacancy rate expressed in square metres. As at 31 December 2023, the financial level of vacant space was 2.9 per cent. of the Issuer's total rental revenue, and the vacancy rate of rentable space was 4.8 per cent. Although vacancy levels are still low, the Issuer works proactively to facilitate new rentals which may entail adaptations and investments in existing premises.

Akademiska Hus has a large project portfolio, which mainly consists of projects related to investments in buildings for universities, colleges and research institutes, but also student housing

projects and preventive maintenance that is capitalised in the statement of financial position. During 2023 investments in Akademiska Hus's property portfolio totalled SEK 2,684 million and throughout the year, land and property worth SEK 91 million was sold and acquisitions totalled SEK 115 million. Usually when Akademiska Hus invests in new constructions, redevelopment or extensions of existing holdings, there is a signed lease contract for the premises. Investments in specifically adapted premises usually require a long lease, which justifies the investment. Any subsequent changes required by the customer are at the cost of the customer.

Rental revenue has again developed positively during the year due to CPI index adjustments and projects being completed. Property management expenses have increased mainly due to higher electricity costs during the first half of 2023, but also because of index-adjusted contract prices for inspection and maintenance. The work to improve efficiency in property management continues.

There is still a strong interest in investing in the market segment in which the Issuer is active, which is partly explained by the stable cash flows from long leases with tenants that, to a large degree, have high credit worthiness. The continued high market interest rate environment compared to the last decade has resulted in higher direct yield requirements in the property market. Akademiska Hus has adjusted its assumptions for direct yield requirements and cost of capital in its property valuations based on the market development, and this contributed negatively to the value changes for the year. The value changes explain most of the lower profit for the year. Value changes in the property portfolio are seldom realised in Akademiska Hus.

The average lease term differs depending on the category of property. As of 31 December 2023, the average lease term for all ongoing contracts was 10.2 years and the average remaining lease term was 5.9 years. In the case of more complex specialist buildings intended for laboratory and research activities, the lease term is normally 10 years or longer. Government approval is required for a public university or college to sign a lease contract longer than 10 years.

Sustainability

Sustainability is an integral part of Akademiska Hus's business. In 2022, an updated climate and energy strategy was launched which has been developed further during 2023. The strategy means an acceleration in the work towards climate neutrality which also includes the value chain. Akademiska Hus aims to become climate neutral throughout its business by 2035. Akademiska Hus' current definition of climate neutrality means a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by at least 85 per cent. from the level reported in base year 2019. One crucial aspect to achieve this is the climate budget that includes annual limits on greenhouse gas emission levels. These limits are then broken down to specific targets for Akademiska Hus' main emission sources such as emissions from energy usage and emissions from materials used in construction. When making investment decisions, the carbon impact will be assessed based on the climate budget. Key factors to reach climate neutrality will be to analyse customer demands at an early stage in campus development to facilitate a long-term sustainable approach and designs that meet current and future needs for the tenants. This is expected to mean less investments in new construction in favour of increased investments in redevelopments and extensions of existing properties. Since 2006, Akademiska Hus has also been taking actions to reduce energy consumption, which includes all energy used within the campuses and therefore require close collaborations with tenants.

Maintenance of Properties

The Issuer's policy is to have maintenance plans for its properties, with the aim of ensuring well-maintained properties with optimised maintenance costs over time. This is done through systematic maintenance and refurbishment of the properties. Structured energy optimisation activities take place in collaboration with tenants.

Market Share and Competition

The Issuer has a presence throughout Sweden. Its market share is about 60 per cent. calculated as a proportion of the estimated floor space for university and college premises. The competition is rather fragmented with the remaining market share of approximately 40 per cent. divided between several, mostly more local, property companies.

Apart from universities and colleges, customers include certain state-owned authorities, municipal authorities, institutions, foundations, private companies and service operations.

Akademiska Hus does not use its land or buildings as collateral. The only collateral posted is over cash in relation to collateral margins in derivative transactions and in electricity hedging.

Relationship with the Sole Shareholder

The Issuer submits financial reports on a quarterly basis. Although the sole shareholder, the Kingdom of Sweden, has appointed the Board of Directors of the Issuer, the management has unfettered discretion to make operational decisions. The shareholder is not involved in the day-to-day management of the Issuer. The shareholder sets out the overall financial targets for the Issuer. The targets are reviewed on a regular basis.

The present targets were decided at the Annual Shareholders Meeting in April 2019, adjusting targets set in 2014. The targets applied from financial year 2019 and are intended to be long-term. Changes in internal and external conditions may lead to a revision of the targets at any time.

Capital Structure:

The equity ratio shall be in the range of 35 to 45 per cent.

The Group's equity ratio was 47.9 per cent. at year-end 2023.

Profitability:

The yield on operating capital shall be at least 6.0 per cent. over a business cycle. Operating profit is calculated as profit before tax excluding changes in values of financial derivatives and net interest income.

Dividend policy:

The ordinary dividend shall be between 40 and 70 per cent. of the profit after tax for the year, excluding any unrealised value changes and deferred tax related thereto. Decisions regarding the dividend shall take into account the Issuer's business and its capital structure target set by the owner.

Board of Directors

The Issuer is managed by the Board of Directors. Each Director is appointed for a period of one year at the Annual Shareholders Meeting.

The current members of the Board of Directors are as follows:

Name	Position	Principal activities outside the Group
Lena Erixon	Board chair	Board chair: the National Government Employee Pensions Board (<i>Sw. Statens Tjänstepensionsverk</i>), the Swedish Payment Agency (<i>Sw. Utbetalningsmyndigheten</i>)
		Board member: Saab Group AB, Hector Rail AB
Christer Nerlich	Board member	Senior advisor and board member: Nerlich Consulting AB
		Board member: Sveafastigheter AB
Erik Mattsson	Board member	Investment Director, Ministry of Finance, Division for state-owned enterprises
		Board member: Apoteket AB, Almi AB, L A Mattsson Invest AB
Johan Kuylenstierna	Board member	Director-general Formas
		Board chair: Modulator AB

Name	Position	Principal activities outside the Group
Kent Waltersson	Board member	University council, Linköping University
		Board chair: the Electoral committee Linköping municipality
		Board member: AB Stångåstaden, Stockholm University of the Arts, Kent Waltersson AB, Jesper Bengtsson Mediaproduktion AB
Mariette Hilmersson	Board member	CEO: Willhem AB
		Board member: Tyréns Group AB, Eldner Consulting AB
Mariell Juhlin	Board member	CEO: Policy Impact AB
Håkan Stenström	Board Member	Senior advisor and board member: Gunnel Consulting AB
		Board chair: Västgötarör AB
		Board member: Svenska ägarlokaler AB, Ägarlokaler i Dalby AB
Josef Mård	Employee representative (Ledarna)	None
Sofi Sonesson	Employee representative (SEKO)	None

There are no potential conflicts between any duties to the Issuer in relation to the persons referred to above and their private interest and/or other duties.

The business address of the Board of Directors is Akademiska Hus AB, Sven Hultins Plats 5 SE-412 58 Göteborg, Sweden.

Management and Employees

The current Executive Management is made up by the following:

Name	Position	Principal activities outside the Issuer		
Caroline Arehult	CEO	None		
Peter Anderson	CFO	None		
Anna Alsborger	Chief Real Estate Officer	Board chair: Pure Capital AB		
Andreas Kupenberg	Chief Technology & Services Officer	None		
Ulf Däversjö	Chief Business Technology and Development Officer	Board member: Accessy Intressenter Al Comitem AB		
Ali Ranji	Chief Project Officer	None		
Erik Florman	Chief Sustainability Officer	Founder: Cleanblocks		
Marie Hallander	Chief HR Officer	Board chair: Brunmåla AB		
Larsson*		Board member: HR Commitment AB		
Cecilia Wide	Chief Marketing and Communications Officer	None		
Carolin Åberg Sjöqvist	Chief Legal Officer	None		

^{*} Marie Hallander Larsson has decided to leave her position as Chief HR Officer. Josefin Helgeson, currently HR partner within Akademiska Hus, has been appointed to take over the position in August 2024.

The business address of the Executive Management is Akademiska Hus AB, Sven Hultins Plats 5, SE-412 58 Göteborg, Sweden.

There are no potential conflicts between any duties to the Issuer in relation to the persons referred to above and their private interest and/or other duties.

Taxation

Sweden

The following summary outlines certain Swedish tax consequences to holders of Notes who are not residents of Sweden for income tax purposes. Purchasers are urged to consult their professional advisers as to the tax consequences of acquiring, holding or transferring Notes.

Under Swedish law as presently in effect, payments of any principal or any amount that is considered to be interest for Swedish tax purposes to the holder of any Note will not be subject to Swedish income tax, provided that such holder is neither resident in Sweden for tax purposes nor engaged in trade or business in Sweden through a permanent establishment to which the Notes are effectively connected.

Swedish law, as presently in effect, does not provide for deduction or withholding for or on account of taxes on payments of any principal or interest to the holder of any Notes, except on payment of interest, and any other yield on any Notes which is paid at the same time as interest, to a holder who is a private individual (or an estate of a deceased individual) with tax residence in Sweden.

The proposed financial transaction tax ("FTT")

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

Subscription and Sale

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an Amended and Restated Programme Agreement dated 25 May 2022, (as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "**Programme Agreement**") between the Issuer, the Permanent Dealers and the Arrangers, the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis by the Issuer to the Permanent Dealers. However, the Issuer has reserved the right to sell the Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers and who agree to be bound by the restrictions below. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the Issuer. The Programme Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally, or severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

The Issuer will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between the Issuer and the Dealer in respect of Notes subscribed by it. The Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Arrangers for their expenses incurred in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the Dealers for certain of their activities in connection with the Programme. The commissions in respect of an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis will be set out in the Subscription Agreement.

The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Programme Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the Issuer. The Dealers are entitled in certain circumstances to be released and discharged from their obligations under the Programme Agreement prior to the closing of an issue of the Notes, including in the event that certain conditions precedent are not delivered or do not meet their satisfaction on the relevant Issue Date of such Notes. In this situation, the issuance of the Notes may not be completed, and investors will have no rights against the Issuer or the Dealers in respect of any expense incurred or loss suffered in these circumstances.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the Unites States and may not be offered or sold within the United States or if Category 2 is specified in the Final Terms, to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from or not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder. The applicable Final Terms will identify whether TEFRA C rules or TEFRA D rules apply or whether TEFRA is not applicable.

If Category 2 is specified in the Final Terms each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes (a) as part of their distribution at any time or (b) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of all Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in accordance with Regulation S of the Securities Act. Each Dealer has further agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will send to each dealer to which it sells any Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Accordingly, if Category 1 is specified in the Final Terms the Notes are being offered and sold only outside the United States in offshore transactions in reliance on, and in compliance with, Regulation S.

Until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, the ("Insurance Distribution Directive") where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, (the **"EU Prospectus Regulation"**); and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase for subscribe the Notes.

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area, each Dealer has represented and agreed, that it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that Member State except that it may make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Member State:

- (a) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation;
- (b) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (c) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the EU Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision:

- the expression "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes;
- the expression "EU Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

United Kingdom

Prohibition of sales to UK Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer

appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in the United Kingdom except that it may make an offer of such Notes to the public in the United Kingdom:

- (a) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation;
- (b) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation) in the United Kingdom subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (c) at any time in any other circumstances falling within section 86 of the FSMA,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of the FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision:

- the expression "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes means the
 communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the
 offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or
 subscribe for the Notes; and
- the expression "UK Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.

Other regulatory restrictions

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:

(i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year, (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the

- purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Belgium

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that an offering of Notes may not be advertised to any individual in Belgium qualifying as a consumer within the meaning of Article I.1, 2° of the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (a "Belgian Consumer") and that it has not offered, sold or resold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, sell, resell, transfer or deliver, the Notes, and that it has not distributed, and will not distribute, any prospectus, memorandum, information circular, brochure or any similar documents in relation to the Notes, directly or indirectly, to any Belgian Consumer.

General

Each Dealer has acknowledged and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge that neither the Issuer nor any Dealer makes any representation that any action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Issuer or any Dealer that would permit a public offering of the Notes, or possession or distribution of the Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Each Dealer has agreed to and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will agree to (to the best of its knowledge) comply with all relevant securities laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes the Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefor.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with any additional restrictions agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and set out in the Subscription Agreement or Dealer Accession Letter, as relevant.

Form of Final Terms

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended "EU MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]²

IPROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK **PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]3

[EU MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Details of any negative target market to be included if applicable]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to EU MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]⁴

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s']

² Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared in the EEA or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable".

³ Legend to be included on the front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared in the UK or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable".

⁴ Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market approach.

target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "**UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules**") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.1⁵

Final Terms dated [●]

Akademiska Hus AB (publ)

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 213800573TEIBOSTZX92

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the €4,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Prospectus dated 23 May 2024 [and the supplemental Prospectus[es] dated [●] [and €]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "Prospectus") for the purposes of the UK Prospectus Regulation. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the UK Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Prospectus in order to obtain all the relevant information. The Prospectus has been published on the website of the London Stock Exchange plc at http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news-home.html [and copies may be obtained from [address]].

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Prospectus dated [original date] [and the supplemental Prospectus[es] dated [●] [and] [●]] which are incorporated by reference in the Prospectus dated 23 May 2024. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the UK Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Prospectus dated 23 May 2024 [and the supplemental Prospectus[es] dated [●] [and] [●]]], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "Prospectus") for the purposes of the UK Prospectus Regulation, including the Conditions incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, in order to obtain all the relevant information. The Prospectus has been published on the website of the London Stock Exchange plc at http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news-home.html [and copies may be obtained from [address]].

1	Issuer		Aka	ademiska Hus AB (publ)
2	(i)	Series Number:	[]
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[]
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	formulass Tenthe the reference	e Notes will be consolidated and masingle Series with [] on [the ue Date/exchange of the mporary Global Note for interests in Permanent Global Note, as erred to in paragraph 23 below, ich is expected to occur on or about] [Not Applicable]
3	Specif	ied Currency or Currencies:	[]
4	Aggree to trad	gate Nominal Amount of Notes admitted ing:		
	(i)	Series:	[]
	(ii)	Tranche:	[1

⁵ Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market approach.

5	Issue	Price:] per cent. of the Aggregate minal Amount [plus accrued interest m [] (if applicable)]	
6	(i)	Specified Denominations:	[1	
	(ii)	Calculation Amount:	[1	
7	(i)	Issue Date:	[1	
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[] [Issue Date] [Not Applicable]	
8	Matur	ity Date:	[1	
9	Intere	st Basis:	[[] per cent. Fixed Rate]	
			-	month JRIBOR/STIBOR/NIBOR] +/- [] r cent. Floating Rate]	
			[Ze	ero Coupon]	
			[CF	PI Linked Interest]	
			(se	ee paragraph [14]/[15]/[16]/[17] low)	
10	Reder	mption[/Payment] Basis:	car No Da	bject to any purchase and neellation or early redemption, the tes will be redeemed on the Maturity te at [100] per cent. of their nominal nount	
			[CF	PI Linked Redemption]	
11	Chang	ge of Interest Basis:	[] [Not Applicable]	
12	Put/Ca	all Options:	[ln	vestor Put]	
			[Issuer Call]		
			[No	ot Applicable]	
			[(s	ee paragraph [18]/[19] below)]	
13	[Date obtain	[Board] approval for issuance of Notes ed:	[[] [and [], respectively]]	
PROV	ISIONS	RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PA	AYA	BLE	
14	Fixed	Rate Note Provisions	[Ap	pplicable/Not Applicable]	
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[arr] per cent. per annum payable in ear on each Interest Payment Date	
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[the] [in each year up to and including Maturity Date]	
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[] per Calculation Amount	
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):] per Calculation Amount payable the Interest Payment Date falling on] []] [Not Applicable]	
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30	/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)]	
	(vi)	Determination Dates:	[[] in each year] [Not Applicable]	
15	Floati	ng Rate Note Provisions	[Ar	pplicable][Not Applicable]	

(i)	Interest Period(s):	[]						
(ii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[] [,subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (v) below]						
(iii)	First Interest Payment Date:	[]						
(iv)	Interest Period Date:	[]						
(v)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/ Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]						
(vi)	Business Centre(s):	[]						
(vii)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the Agent):	[]						
(viii)	Screen Rate Determination							
	— Reference Rate:	[] month [EURIBOR/ STIBOR/NIBOR]						
	— Interest Determination Date(s):	[]						
	— Relevant Screen Page:	[]						
(ix)	Linear Interpolation	[Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation]						
(x)	Margin(s):	[] per cent. per annum						
(xi)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum						
(xii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum						
(xiii)	Day Count Fraction:	[[Actual/Actual] [Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/360] [30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis] [30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] [30E/360(ISDA)] [Actual/Actual - ICMA][Actual/Actual ISDA]						
(xiv)	Calculation Agent (appointed pursuant to Condition 5(k)):	[]/[Not Applicable]						
Zero (Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]						
(i)	Amortisation Yield:	[] per cent. per annum						
(ii)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amounts:	[30/360] [Actual/360] [Actual/365]						
CPI Li	nked Interest Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]						
(i)	Party responsible for calculating the	[]						

		Agen	ıt):									
	(ii) Base Index:				[Mo], being the CPI for the Relevant onth in []						
	(iii)	Rate of Interest:				[] per cent. per annum multiplied by Inflation Index Ratio						
	(iv)	Intere	est Period(s):		[]						
	(v)	Intere	est Payment Dates:		[]						
	(vi)	Relev	vant Month:		[] in each year						
	(vii)	Busir	ness Day Convention	:	Bu Fo Co	loating Rate Convention/Following usiness Day Convention/ Modified ollowing Business Day onvention/Preceding Business Day onvention]						
	(viii)	Minin	num Rate of Interest:		[] per cent. per annum						
	(ix)	Maxi	mum Rate of Interest	:	[] per cent. per annum						
	(x)	Benc	hmark Bond:		[]						
	(xi)	Day (Count Fraction:		[]						
PRO	VISION	S RELA	ATING TO REDEMP	TION								
18	Call	Call Option				[Applicable/Not Applicable]						
	(i)	Optic	onal Redemption Date	e(s):	[]						
	(ii)	Optic	onal Redemption Amo	ount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount						
	(iii)	If red	leemable in part:									
		(a)	Minimum Redemp	tion Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount						
		(b)	Maximum Amount:	Redemption	[] per Calculation Amount						
	(iv)	Notic	e periods:		Mi	nimum period: [] days						
				Maximum period: [] days								
19	Put C	ption		[A	pplicable/Not Applicable]							
	(i)	Optic	onal Redemption Date	e(s):	[]						
	(ii)	Optic	onal Redemption Amo	ount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount						
	(iii)	Notic	Notice periods:		Mi	nimum period: [] days						
					Ма	aximum period: [] days						
20	Final	Reden	nption Amount	[] per Calculation Amount							
21	CPI L	inked	Redemption	[A	pplicable/Not Applicable]							
	(i)	Base	Index:		[Mo], being the CPI for the Relevant onth of the []						
	(ii)	Relev	vant Year:		Г	1						

Agent) and Interest Amount (if not the

	(iii)	Party responsible for calculating the Final Redemption Amount (if not the Calculation Agent):	[1								
22	Early Redemption Amount		[] per Calculation Amount								
	Amou	Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation nt payable on redemption for taxation ns or on event of default:										
GENE	GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES											
23	Form	of Notes:										
	(a) Form		Ве	arer Notes:								
			[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]									
			excoption option the excoption option the excoption option the excoption option	emporary Global Note changeable for Definitive Notes] (If a Temporary Global Note is changeable for definitives at the tion of the holder, the Notes shall be deable only in amounts of at least a Specified Denomination (or if more an one Specified Denomination, the vest Specified Denomination) ovided in paragraph 6 and multiples ereof) [Permanent Global Note changeable for Definitive Notes in a limited circumstances specified in a Permanent Global Note]								
			Ex	changeable Notes:								
			exo No	emporary Global Note changeable for a Permanent Global te which is exchangeable for finitive Certificates on request]								
			Re	gistered Notes:								
			Pe ex Ce	ne Notes will be represented by a rmanent Global Certificate changeable for definitive ertificates in the circumstances set t therein]								
	(b)	[New Global Note]/[New Safekeeping Structure]:	[Ye	es][No]]								
24	Financ	cial Centre(s):	[No	ot Applicable] []								
25		s for future Coupons to be attached to tive Notes:	[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive									

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

form, more than 27 coupon payments

are still to be made/No.]

[[] has been extracted from []. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]
Signed on behalf of Akademiska Hus AB (publ):
By:
Duly authorised

				PART B -	OTHE	R INI	FORN	<i>I</i> IATION						
1	LISTI TRAD		ID A	DMISSION	то									
	(i)	Listing trading:	and	Admissio	n to	on trace ma Final [the adr Exc Offi	its beding orket a ancia [P.].] [A Issue thang icial Lickers	ion has chalf) for the Loand listing Conduction (or on to tradicts to the ct from	r the Nondoning on lict Auon is edited its beding no maile tina	Notes of Stock the Control of the Co	to be ac Exchan Official L with e ed to be or the N e Lond nd listir	dmitte ge's r ist of ffect f mad otes to on S	ed to main the from e by o be tock the	
	(ii)			total expo		[]							
2	RATII	NGS												
	Ratings:					[The Notes to be issued [have been] [are expected to be] rated] [The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally]:								
							[[] by Standard & Poor's Global Ratings Europe Limited.]							
							[Add a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has been previously published by the ratings provider.]							
3	[INTER	RESTS /OFFER]	_	IATURAL	AND	LE	GAL	PERS	ONS	INVO	DLVED	IN	THE	
	person [Manag investn	involved gers/Deal nent bank	d in the lers] ar king an	able to the of the offer of the offer of the offer offer offer offer and its affi	the No liates h ercial b	tes ave ankir	has a engaç ng tra	an intere ged, and nsactior	est may d may ns with	aterial in the n, and	to the future may pe	offer enga	. The ge, in	
4	[REAS	ONS FO	R THE	OFFER A	ГІМА	TED	NET PF	ROCE	EDS					
	(i)	Reasor	ns for th	ne offer		[See Use of Proceeds wording in Prospectus] [Green Bonds – further detail be inserted as necessary] []						the Is to		
	(ii)	Estimat	ted net	proceeds		[]							
5	[YIEL	D (Fixed	Rate N	lotes only)										
	Indica	ition of yi	eld:	- 1		[]							
		-					•	d is cal						

[PERFORMANCE OF INDEX/FORMULA AND **OTHER** 6 **INFORMATION CONCERNING THE UNDERLYING** (CPI-Linked Notes Only)

Name of underlying index: the Swedish consumer price index ("CPI") as published by Statistiska centralbyrån (Statistics Sweden) ("SCB") on its website (i)

indication of future yield.]

such information is published. (ii) Information about the Index: [The Issuer [intends to provide post-issuance information []] [does not intend to provide post-issuance information.] **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION** ISIN: (i) Γ 1 (ii) CFI: [[See/[[include code]6, as updated, as set out on] the website of the Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available] [[See/[[include code]⁶, as updated, as set out (iii) FISN: on] the website of the Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available] (iv) Common Code: (v) Any clearing system(s) other [Not Applicable] [1 than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s): (vi) Names and addresses of initial [1 Paying Agent(s): (vii) Names and addresses 1 additional Paying Agent(s) (if any): (viii) [Intended to be held in a [Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply manner which would allow means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as Eurosystem eligibility: common safekeeper[, and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper] [include this text for Registered Notes and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that

at http://www.scb.se/, or on such replacement website or page on which

7

⁶ The actual code should only be included where the issuer is comfortable that it is correct.

78

Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]/[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper[, and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting

as common safekeeper] [include this text for Registered Notes]. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]]

8 **DISTRIBUTION**

- (i) If syndicated, names of [Not Applicable] [] Managers:
- (ii) U.S. Selling Restrictions: [Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3]; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]]
- (iii) Prohibition of Sales to EEA [Applicable/Not Applicable] Retail Investors:
- (iv) Prohibition of Sales to UK [Applicable/Not Applicable] Retail Investors:

General Information

Listing of Notes

It is expected that listing of the Notes on the Official List and admission of the Notes to trading on the London Stock Exchange's main market will be admitted separately, as and when issued, subject only to the issue of one or more Global Note (or one or more Certificates) in respect of each Tranche. Application has been made to the FCA for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's main market. The listing of the Programme in respect of such Notes is expected to be granted on or about 23 May 2024. Prior to listing and admission to trading, however, dealings will be permitted by the London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions will normally be effected for delivery on the third working day after the day of the transaction.

Authorisation

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in Sweden in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes. The establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes under the Programme was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 12 December 1997 and pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 18 December 2023, the Issuer authorised the update of the Programme.

Significant or Material Change

There has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 March 2024 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Group since 31 December 2023.

Litigation

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings which are pending or threatened) of which the Issuer is aware in the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have or have had in the recent past a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or of the Group.

U.S. Tax

Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".

Clearing Systems

Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg systems. The Common Code and the International Securities Identification Number ("ISIN") for each Series of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium. The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of any alternative clearing system will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Conditions for determining price

The issue price and the amount of the relevant Notes will be determined, before filing of the relevant Final Terms of each Tranche, based on then prevailing market conditions.

Material Contracts

There are no material contracts entered into in the ordinary course of the Issuer's business which could result in any member of the Issuer's Group being under an obligation or entitlement that is material to the Issuer's ability to meet its obligations to Noteholders in respect of the Notes being issued.

Exchange Rates

The exchange rate information on page 6 of this Prospectus has been sourced from a third party and has been accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain

from the information published by such third party no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The source of such third party information is identified where used.

Documents on Display

For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Prospectus, the following documents will be available for inspection from https://www.akademiskahus.se/en/about-us/financial-information/:

- the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Notes, the definitive Bearer Notes, the Certificates, the Coupons and the Talons);
- (b) the Agency Agreement;
- (c) the Articles of Association of the Issuer (together with English translation);
- (d) each Final Terms; and
- (e) all reports including auditors' reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any expert any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Prospectus.

In addition, this Prospectus and each Final Terms will be available at the website of the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news-home.html. This Prospectus and any Supplements to it will also be available at the website of the Issuer at http://www.akademiskahus.se/en/about-us/financial-information/financing/borrowing-facilities/.

The English language translation of the Articles of the Association of the Issuer is a direct and accurate translation of the original Swedish language document. In the event of a discrepancy between the English language translation and the Swedish language original, the Swedish language original will prevail.

Auditors

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB (authorised and regulated by the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors (*Revisorsinspektionen*)), with Helena Ehrenborg as auditor in charge, have audited and delivered unqualified audit reports on the accounts of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Post Issuance information

Save as set out in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any issues of Notes.

Trustee's action

The Conditions and the Trust Deed provide for the Trustee to take action on behalf of the Noteholders in certain circumstances, but only if the Trustee is indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. It may not always be possible for the Trustee to take certain actions, notwithstanding the provision of an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to it. Where the Trustee is unable to take any action, the Noteholders are permitted by the Conditions and the Trust Deed to take the relevant action directly.

CPI Linked Notes

Information on the CPI, including historical data, can be found on the main pages of SCB's (Statistics Sweden) website (http://www.scb.se/).

Dealers transacting with the Issuer

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services to the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. They have received, or may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for these transactions.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve

securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or their affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in the securities of the Issuer, including potentially the Notes offered hereby. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the Notes offered hereby. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

THE ISSUER

Akademiska Hus AB (publ)

Visiting Address
Sven Hultins Plats 5
SE-412 58 Göteborg
Sweden

Registered Office Address
Box 483
401 27 Göteborg
Sweden

ARRANGER

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8 SE-106 40 Stockholm Sweden

DEALERS

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt am Main Germany

Danske Bank A/S

Bernstorffsgade 40 DK-1577 Copenhagen V Denmark

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Taunusanlage 12 60325 Frankfurt am Main Germany

NatWest Markets N.V.

Claude Debussylaan 94 1082 MD Amsterdam The Netherlands

Nomura Financial Products GmbH

Rathenauplatz 1 60313, Frankfurt-am-Main Germany

Nordea Bank Abp

Satamaradankatu 5 Helsinki FI-00020 Nordea Finland

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ)

Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8 SE-106 40 Stockholm Sweden

Swedbank AB (publ)

SE-105 34 Stockholm Sweden

Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ)

Blasieholmstorg 11 SE-106 70 Stockholm Sweden

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer

CMS Wistrand

Regeringsgatan 65 P.O. Box 7543 SE-103 93 Stockholm Sweden

To the Dealers and the Trustee

Allen Overy Shearman Sterling LLP

One Bishops Square London E1 6AD United Kingdom

AUDITOR

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Torsgatan 21 SE-113 97 Stockholm Sweden

TRUSTEE

Citicorp Trustee Company Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND CALCULATION AGENT

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

REGISTRAR

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany